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Purpose: to collaboratively provide a smooth transition from early childhood services to public school 

for students with disabilities in order to: 

 Develop positive working relationships with families

  Meet compliance requirements

Provide a continuity of services

KINDERGARTEN TRANSITION PROCEDURES FOR CHILDREN’S DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES OF
CAMPBELL COUNTY (CDS-CC) AND CAMPBELL COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT (CCSD)

Month CDS-CC CCSD

December

Case managers compile a list of 
children who could potentially go 
to Kindergarten in the Fall.

Staff begins talking to parents 
about Kindergarten transition 
procedures

Staff obtains permission to 
Obtain/Release Information from 
CDS-CC to CCSD and the Consent 
to Invite CCSD to Transition 
Meeting/s

January

Case managers obtain home 
school information from parent

Case managers prepare progress 
narratives and Teaching Strategies
GOLD reports for each student

Case managers make 
recommendations on children 
who may need further evaluation
to assist with placement options 

CDS-CC Transition Coordinator 
will meet with CCSD regarding 
students who may need further 
assessment to assist with 
placement options 

CCSD Transition Coordinator will meet with CDS-
CC staff to discuss students who may need 
different program placement options, thus 
needing an evaluation

The CCSD Transition Coordinator will work with 
CDS-CC staff to gain consent to evaluate and 
conduct a parent interview

February

CDS-CC will prepare Transition 
Booklet

CDS-CC will gain consent to 
evaluate children who are being 
recommended for observation or 
further evaluation by CCSD

CDS-CC staff will give parents 
information and support 
regarding Kindergarten 
Registration which may include a 
recommendation for exemption 
from kindergarten screening for 
those being evaluated by CCSD or 
for other appropriate reasons as 

CCSD will choose days in May for IEP meetings

CCSD staff including: OT, PT, SLP, Kindergarten 
Resource Teacher, Jr. Kindergarten Teacher, Case
Manager, and CCSD Transition Coordinator will 
attend informational meetings at CDS-CC as 
scheduled

All children in Campbell County must register 
with their elementary school and schedule a 
screening visit
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determined by the Transition 
Coordinators

CDS-CC staff will meet with 
kindergarten teachers prior to 
screening so they are informed 
about the children coming 
through the screening process

March

CDS-CC staff will assist CCSD staff 
in the assessment process for 
those needing additional 
assessments

Kindergarten Screening will take place at the 

child’s resident elementary school. 

Recommendations are made for Jr. Kindergarten 

consideration

CCSD will complete additional assessments and 
observations

April

CDS-CC staff will meet with Jr. 

Kindergarten staff to discuss 

children who may be appropriate 

placements in Jr. Kindergarten.

CDS-CC OT’s will meet with 

CCSD OT’s regarding children 

receiving or being considered for 

OT services.

CDS-CC SLP’s will meet with CCSD 
SLP’s regarding children receiving 
articulation only services.

February through April

CDS-CC will continue to hold IEP

reviews for children as needed and

will invite CCSD staff

CDS-CC will be responsible for 

completing IEP paperwork

CDS-CC will work with families 

to schedule IEP meetings far 

enough in advance in order for 

CCSD staff to be able to schedule 

and prepare to write CCSD IEP

IEP meetings will be held for students being 

evaluated by CCSD. CCSD will work with CDS-

CC to schedule the meetings. CCSD will be 

responsible for the Eligibility and IEP paperwork 

and assessment reports. IEP’s will be initiated the 

first day of Kindergarten

When invited to an annual review by CDS-CC, 
CCSD will be responsible for also completing IEP 
paperwork. IEP’s will be initiated the first day of 
Kindergarten
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April through May

CDS-CC staff will work with 
families and CCSD to schedule IEP 
meetings.

CDS-CC staff will make copies of 
all IEP legal documents. The 
original documents are given to 
CCSD at the IEP meeting. 

IEP meetings will be held for students 
transitioning to kindergarten at CDS-CC. CCSD 
will be responsible for the IEP paperwork. IEP’s 
will be initiated the first day of kindergarten

June through August

CDS-CC staff will work with 

families to keep updated on 

kindergarten plans (i.e. home 

school changes, decisions on 

going or not)

Exit process of CDS-

Kindergarteners continue through 

the summer and all will have an 

exit by July 31

August

CDS-CC will Transfer requested 
paperwork electronically

CCSD Transition Coordinator will ensure that the

staff at the school where the student will be 

attending Kindergarten has all the necessary 

special education information



No changes - going as is to Kindergarten on an IEP 68 # Age Eligible Started Process 117 3 120

Eval to change Elig -WILL GO to Kinder on IEP 17 # CCSD IEP's or ISP's scheduled 85

Tested off services prior kindergarten - Return to Regular Ed 15 Junior Kindergarten 32

Age Eligible but did not transition to CCSD - OTHER REASON 20 Individual Service Plan home school 2
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124
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49.84%
29

9.51%
Physical

69
22.62%
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21
6.89%

Language
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17

5.57%
Cognitive

128
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8
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Literacy
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7

2.33%
Mathematics
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43.88%
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51.8%
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4.32%

Spanish Language
0

0%
0

0%
0

0%
Spanish Literacy

0
0%

0
0%

0
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1. Log No. ACF-IM-HS-20-01 
 

2. Issuance Date: 01/22/2020 
 

3. Originating Office: Office of Head Start  
 

4. Key Word: Head Start; Children with Disabilities; Inclusion 

 
TO: All Head Start and Early Head Start Agencies and Delegate Agencies  
 
SUBJECT: Inclusion of Children with Disabilities  
 
ABSTRACT:  
This Information Memorandum (IM) highlights requirements in the Head Start Program 
Performance Standards (HSPPS) related to the inclusion of children with disabilities and delays. 
It includes a list of free resources for grantees' use in implementation efforts. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Head Start and Early Head Start programs are required to ensure that at least 10% of enrollment 
slots are occupied by children with disabilities. In fact, Head Start's founders and early pioneers 
recognized that both children with and without disabilities would benefit from participating 
together in the same classrooms. Since 1972, over 3 million children with disabilities have fully 
participated in Head Start. 
 
The 2016 HSPPS provide additional specificity regarding the inclusion of children with 
disabilities within Head Start and Early Head Start programs. Additionally, at 45 CFR §§1302.62 
and 1302.60, the HSPPS explicitly require that every effort be made to include and provide 
services to children identified with delays or suspected delays, even if they are not eligible for 
services under Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).  
 
Section 640(d)(1) of the Head Start Act defines the term "child with a disability" as:  

• A child with a disability, as defined in section 602(3) of IDEA 
• An infant or toddler with a disability, as defined in section 632(5) of such Act 

 
Information 
Grantees often have questions regarding the requirement that 10% of slots be occupied by 
children with disabilities. The following information reminds grantees of specific HSPPS 
requirements for services to children with disabilities.  
 
Enrollment of Children with Disabilities  
Each Head Start grant must include a minimum of 10% of all slots occupied by children with 
disabilities. This requirement helps ensure programs recruit children who are already identified 
as eligible for IDEA services prior to entering Head Start or Early Head Start, and accurately 

https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/policy/45-cfr-chap-xiii/1302-62-additional-services-parents
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/policy/45-cfr-chap-xiii/1302-60-full-participation-program-services-activities
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/policy/head-start-act/sec-640-allotment-funds-limitations-assistance


 

screen and refer for evaluation any children who may benefit from early intervention, special 
education, or related services. If a child is found eligible for services under IDEA, they are 
counted as a Head Start child with a disability even if they have not begun receiving the special 
education or related services for which they were determined eligible.  
 
When a Head Start agency operates two different Head Start or Early Head grants in adjoining 
counties, or enrolls children from birth to 5, it should be vigilant in analyzing data. The grantee 
must ensure, across its programs and grants, that all children with potential disabilities are being 
identified and evaluated so that early intervention, special education, or related services are being 
provided as necessary.  

 
For example, a birth to 5 program could report that 12% of enrolled children are children with 
disabilities, with none of the enrolled infants and toddlers receiving IDEA services. Such a 
program would need to consider the recruiting, screening, and referral process for infants and 
toddlers to identify the cause of this difference and ensure that at least 10% of its enrolled infants 
and toddlers are eligible for services under IDEA. 

  
Many programs will find that significantly more than 10% of enrolled children are eligible for 
services under IDEA. If, however, after exhaustive efforts, programs cannot meet the 
requirement, they may request a waiver from their Regional Office. 

 
Timing  
Nearly half of the children with disabilities in Head Start and Early Head Start are diagnosed 
after they enroll in the program. This usually occurs through Head Start and Early Head Start 
screening or the ongoing assessment and referral process. It takes time to refer children to the 
agency responsible for conducting evaluations under IDEA, schedule Individualized Family 
Service Plan (IFSP) and Individualized Education Plan (IEP) meetings, and identify providers. 
Therefore, the Office of Head Start expects that programs may be midway through the program 
year (January, for many programs) before reaching the 10% requirement. 
 
If programs are monitored prior to the mid-point, data from the previous year is reviewed. If it is 
past the middle of the program year and determinations are still pending for children who were 
referred for evaluation, monitoring teams will look at the number of evaluations pending and 
when the referrals were made in determining compliance. 
 
Engaging Parents  
Head Start programs must work with parents to ensure they understand their right to obtain an 
evaluation, the benefit of receiving services as early as possible, and their ability to participate in 
decisions about their children including where services should be delivered. Engaging parents 
early on and empowering them to advocate for their child's services is imperative to obtaining 
services during Head Start or Early Head Start enrollment and as the child transitions to 
kindergarten and beyond.  
 
Children may need to receive IDEA services at another site. When this occurs, careful planning 
of the child's transition to and from each program is established. The time away from Head Start 
or Early Head Start is minimized to ensure receipt of comprehensive services.  
 
Distribution of Children with Disabilities throughout the Program  



 

There is no regulation stipulating the number of children with disabilities who should be in each 
classroom. The following elements can all influence how many children with disabilities are in a 
particular room: 

• Children's needs 
• Staff capacity 
• Availability of early intervention, special education, and related service providers 
• Number of children identified as having disabilities after enrollment 

 
Programs must ensure staffing is sufficient to ensure safe, nurturing environments and 
individualized teaching and learning for all children.  

 
Settings need to be inclusive. If the classroom is predominantly comprised of children with 
disabilities, it may be a de facto special education classroom rather than a classroom inclusive of 
children with and without disabilities.  
 
Children with Delays Not Eligible Under IDEA  
Children with a suspected delay who are referred for evaluation may not always qualify for 
services under IDEA even though they have a developmental delay in one or more areas. These 
children are not counted as part of the program's 10% as they do not meet the statutory 
requirement as children eligible for services under IDEA. However, Head Start and Early Head 
Start programs must ensure the individualized needs of all children are being met and all children 
have access to and are able to fully participate in the full range of activities and services. In some 
situations, program funds may be used to provide additional support, materials, or 
accommodations. Individualized services and support may also be available through the child's 
health insurance.  
 
504 Plans 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act requires a "504 Plan" be established by the local education 
agency responsible for implementing IDEA for an eligible child. A 504 Plan defines, in writing, 
the protection from discrimination and necessary accommodations or services for children who 
have special needs but who do not qualify under IDEA. A child who scores within typical ranges 
but needs physical accommodations, such as a weighted spoon or a standing table to fully access 
the program, could be an example. Other frequent accommodations under a 504 Plan are the 
ability to stand while working, sit near the teacher, or take more breaks. It is different than an 
IEP or an IFSP, which always includes specific special education and related services, such as 
speech or occupational therapy or itinerant special education services in addition to 
accommodations.  

 
Head Start programs must protect all children from discrimination and make accommodations as 
necessary to fully include them in the program. 504 Plans are not required to implement these 
requirements. If a child enters Head Start with an established 504 Plan, or one is obtained during 
the child's enrollment, the program must ensure the plan is fully implemented.  

 
While Head Start programs are expected to provide such supports to all children in need, it can 
be helpful for eligible children to have 504 Plans established as they transition to kindergarten to 
ensure continued success.  
 



 

For All Children  
Programs are required to screen children, conduct ongoing assessment, partner with families to 
support them as advocates for their own children, consult with specialists as necessary, help 
children and families obtain additional services as appropriate, and take all possible steps to 
ensure each child's full participation in the program. 
 
Resources for Including Children with Disabilities or Delays 

• Inclusion Webinars 
• Supporting Interactions for Children with Disabilities or Suspected Delays 

• SpecialQuest: Including Infants and Toddlers with Disabilities 
• Children with Disabilities 
• Infographic: Young Children with Special Needs 

 
If you have any questions regarding inclusion, please contact your Regional Office. Thank you 
for all you do to serve the most vulnerable children and families.  
 
/ Dr. Deborah Bergeron / 
 
Dr. Deborah Bergeron  
Director 
Office of Head Start 
Office of Early Childhood Development 

https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/children-disabilities/article/inclusion-webinars
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/video/supporting-interactions-children-disabilities-or-suspected-delays
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/children-disabilities/specialquest/including-infants-toddlers-disabilities
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/children-disabilities
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/children-disabilities/publication/infographic-young-children-special-needs
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

County Commissioners
Campbell County, Wyoming
Gillette, Wyoming

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate discretely
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Campbell
County, Wyoming (County) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.   The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we
express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Campbell County, Wyoming,  as of June 30,
2019, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the
respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Schedule of Changes
in Campbell County’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, the Schedules of Campbell County’s and
Campbell County’s Discretely Presented Component Units’ Proportionate Shares of the Net Pension Liability-
Pension Plans and the Schedules of Campbell County and Campbell County’s Discretely Presented Component
Units’ Contributions-Pension Plans on pages 55 through 64, and the Notes to the Required Supplementary
Information on page 65 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting and for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the
basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the County’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial
statements, the discretely presented component unit statements and schedules,  and the schedule of state
financial assistance, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.  The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of
the basic financial statements.  The Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended is also
presented for purposes of additional analysis as specified in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for
Public Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation Administration, and is also not a required part of the basic
financial statements.
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The combining statements and individual nonmajor fund schedules, the discretely presented component unit
statements and schedules, the Schedules of State Financial Assistance, Expenditures of Federal Awards, and
Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended are the responsibility of management and were derived
from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining statements and individual
nonmajor fund schedules, the discretely presented component unit statements and schedules, the Schedules of
State Financial Assistance, Expenditures of Federal Awards, and Passenger Facility Charges Collected and
Expended are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards,  we have also issued our report dated January 14, 2020,
on our consideration of Campbell County, Wyoming’s  internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the County’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
Campbell County, Wyoming’s  internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Bennett, Weber & Hermstad, LLP

Gillette, Wyoming
January 14, 2020
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2019

Primary   
 Government                              Discretely Presented Component Units                                 

Joint   Recreation Total    
Joint    Powers Project   Discretely

Powers  Public  Joint     Nonmajor Presented 
Governmental Fire     Land   Powers    Component Component

Activities  Board   Board  Board    Units    Units    

ASSETS
Cash $ 12,266,453 $ 474,559 $ 570,488 $ - $ 1,752,057 $ 2,797,104
Restricted cash - passenger 

facility charges 167,990 - - - - - 
Investments 233,900,664 - 11,049,495 - 2,300,043 13,349,538
Restricted investments - - - - 1,702,248 1,702,248
Taxes receivable (net of

allowance for uncollectibles)  52,014,145 - - - 862,854 862,854
Other taxes receivable   1,544,995 - - - - - 
Other accounts receivable 1,692,563 7,264 165,797 - 48,398 221,459
Due from other governments  5,052,272 4,724,538 363,793 - 360,681 5,449,012
Inventories 1,681,760 - - - 168,717 168,717
Prepaid expenses - - 50,966 - 42,643 93,609
Note receivable 181,575 - - - - - 
Beneficial interest in assets held by Wyoming 

Community Foundation - - - - 21,262 21,262
Capital assets:
  Non-depreciable capital assets 28,910,010 1,357,950 1,380,892 - 244,052 2,982,894
  Depreciable capital assets, net 245,995,524 19,236,527 42,574,753 - 510,688 62,321,968

          Total assets $ 583,407,951 $ 25,800,838 $ 56,156,184 $ - $ 8,013,643 $ 89,970,665

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Relating to OPEB $ 40,914 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Relating to pensions 16,467,167 2,640,505 685,709 - 456,838 3,783,052

          Total deferred outflows of resources $ 16,508,081 $ 2,640,505 $ 685,709 $ - $ 456,838 $ 3,783,052

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 4,462,068 $ 203,259 $ 156,593 $ - $ 17,243 $ 377,095
Contracts and retainage payable 3,395,643 - 161,881 - - 161,881
Estimated claims payable 870,000 - - - - - 
Accrued liabilities 4,167,774 201,539 278,124 - 116,076 595,739
Due to other governments - - - - 940,745 940,745
Advance payments received on grants 408,650 - 175,686 - 20,000 195,686
Ticket revenue received prior to event - - 13,767 - - 13,767
Noncurrent liabilities:
  Due within one year 229,440 - - - - - 
  Due within more than one year 74,132,184 4,530,866 2,840,102 - 1,782,510 9,153,478

          Total liabilities $ 87,665,759 $ 4,935,664 $ 3,626,153 $ - $ 2,876,574 $ 11,438,391

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes levied for subsequent years $ 50,074,700 $ - $ - $ - $ 831,500 $ 831,500
Relating to OPEB 33,971 - - - - - 
Relating to pensions 2,847,845 2,610,896 313,980 - 119,732 3,044,608

          Total deferred inflows of resources $ 52,956,516 $ 2,610,896 $ 313,980 $ - $ 951,232 $ 3,876,108

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 270,735,161 $ 20,594,477 $ 43,793,764 $ - $ 754,740 $ 65,142,981
Restricted for:

Passenger facility projects 167,990 - - - - - 
Enhanced 911 services 358,755 - - - - - 
Capital projects 111,033,005 - - - - - 
Road construction 3,461,777 - - - - - 
Vehicle replacement - 4,678,374 - - - 4,678,374
Children’s series - - 59,330 - - 59,330
Operations - - 1,688,811 - - 1,688,811
Wyoming Center repairs and maintenance - - 2,794,258 - - 2,794,258
Library projects - - - - 822,386 822,386

Unrestricted 73,537,069 (4,378,068) 4,565,597 - 3,065,549 3,253,078

          Total net position $ 459,293,757 $ 20,894,783 $ 52,901,760 $ - $ 4,642,675 $ 78,439,218

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements. 4



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Net (Expense)/Revenue and
      Changes in Net Position   

Primary   
                   Program Revenues                  Government

Discretely
Operating   Capital    Govern-  Presented

Charges for Grants and  Grants and  mental   Component
Expenses   Services   Contributions Contributions Activities Units   

Primary Government
Governmental Activities:

General government $ 31,080,278 $ 1,286,900 $ 130,090 $ - $ (29,663,288) $ - 
Public safety 22,824,046 974,832 586,695 314,616 (20,947,903) - 

Public works 15,613,526 4,674,565 213,683 4,250,069 (6,475,209) - 
Health, welfare, culture 

and recreation 25,446,479 3,783,276 4,551,360 900,000 (16,211,843) - 
Debt service:

Interest on long term debt 22,443 - - - (22,443) - 

          Total governmental activities/
            primary government $ 94,986,772 $10,719,573 $ 5,481,828 $ 5,464,685 $ (73,320,686) $ - 
Component Units:

Joint Powers Fire Board $ 6,326,294 $ 16,219 $ 5,000 $ 152,005 $ - $ (6,153,070)
Joint Powers Public Land Board 6,716,935 1,456,425 1,330,795 - - (3,929,715)
Recreation Project Joint

Powers Board 1,187,583 - - - - (1,187,583)
Nonmajor Component Units 4,206,918 573,274 1,216,155 83,606 - (2,333,883)

          Total discretely presented
            component units $ 18,437,730 $ 2,045,918 $ 2,551,950 $ 235,611 $ - $ (13,604,251)

General Revenues:
Taxes:

        Taxes, levied for general purposes $ 45,839,792 $ - 
        Taxes, levied for Weed and Pest District - 805,111
        Taxes, interest and penalties 164,496 - 

        Motor vehicle taxes 2,497,158 - 
        Sales and use taxes 19,288,244 - 
        Gasoline taxes 3,082,905 - 
        Severance taxes 463,836 - 

    Other taxes 1,651,691 - 

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 289,653 - 
Federal payments in lieu of taxes 947,766 - 
Other local revenue - 10,946,645
Investment income 9,289,611 578,902
Miscellaneous 2,132,893 138,464

Gain on sale of capital assets - 24,497

          Total general revenues $ 85,648,045 $ 12,493,619

          Income (loss) before special items $ 12,327,359 $ (1,110,632)

Special item - conveyance of assets, intergovernmental 47,698,902 (47,698,902)

          Change in net position $ 60,026,261 $ (48,809,534)

Net Position, Beginning July 1 $394,247,180 $ 123,604,180
Prior Period Adjustment 5,020,316 3,644,572

Net Position, Beginning July 1, As Restated $399,267,496 $ 127,248,752

Net Position, Ending June 30 $459,293,757 $ 78,439,218

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2019

Capital   Nonmajor Total   
Replace- Govern- Govern-

General   ment    mental mental 
Fund     Fund    Funds  Funds  

ASSETS

Cash $ 11,638,904 $ - $ - $ 11,638,904

Restricted cash - passenger facility charges 167,990 - - 167,990
Investments 115,327,726 92,834,504 21,646,246 229,808,476
Receivables:

Property and production taxes (net of allowance
for uncollectibles) 52,014,145 - - 52,014,145

Other taxes 1,544,995 - - 1,544,995
Accounts 840,924 - - 840,924

Due from other governments 5,013,240 - 39,032 5,052,272
Inventories 1,681,760 - - 1,681,760

          Total assets $ 188,229,684 $ 92,834,504 $ 21,685,278 $ 302,749,466

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 4,437,068 $ - $ 25,000 $ 4,462,068
Contracts and retainage payable 3,395,643 - - 3,395,643

Accrued liabilities 4,167,774 - - 4,167,774
Advance payments received on grants 408,650 - - 408,650
Due to other funds 702,879 - - 702,879

          Total liabilities $ 13,112,014 $ - $ 25,000 $ 13,137,014

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable taxes $ 51,771,700 $ - $ - $ 51,771,700

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable $ 1,681,760 $ - $ - $ 1,681,760

Restricted 526,745 92,834,504 21,660,278 115,021,527
Committed 12,663,326 - - 12,663,326
Assigned 17,897,659 - - 17,897,659
Unassigned 90,576,480 - - 90,576,480

          Total fund balances $ 123,345,970 $ 92,834,504 $ 21,660,278 $ 237,840,752

          Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
              and fund balances $ 188,229,684 $ 92,834,504 $ 21,685,278 $ 302,749,466

See Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE
GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 2019

Total Governmental Fund Balances $ 237,840,752

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
Statement of Net Position are different because:

Property and production taxes are not available to pay for 
current-period expenditures, and therefore, are deferred in the funds. 1,697,000

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Non-depreciable capital assets $ 28,910,010
Depreciable assets     395,725,691
Less:  accumulated depreciation     (149,730,167)

          Total capital assets 274,905,534

An Internal Service Fund is used by the County to charge 
the cost of the County’s self-insurance to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are 
included in the governmental activities in the Statement
of Net Position.  Internal service fund net position is: 5,404,255

Long-term assets applicable to the County’s governmental
activities are not reported as fund assets.  All assets both
current and long-term are reported in the Statement of
Net Position.

Note Receivable 181,575

Long-term liabilities applicable to the County’s governmental
activities are not reported as fund liabilities.  All liabilities
both current and long-term are reported in the Statement of
Net Position.

Capital leases payable $ (885,017)
Business Ready Community loan (181,575)
Estimated landfill closure and post closure care costs                (20,390,000)
Total OPEB liability (1,469,596)
Net pension liability       (51,435,436)

          Total noncurrent liabilities (74,361,624)

Deferred outflows and inflows or resources related to pensions and OPEB
are applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported
in the funds.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions $ 16,467,167
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 40,914
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions        (2,847,845)
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB             (33,971)

13,626,265

          Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 459,293,757

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Capital  Nonmajor Total   
Replace- Govern- Govern-

General   ment    mental mental 
Fund     Fund    Funds Funds  

REVENUES
Taxes $ 73,799,059 $ - $ 842,063 $ 74,641,122

Charges for goods and services 10,719,573 - - 10,719,573
Intergovernmental 12,209,871 - - 12,209,871
Investment income 3,941,169 4,383,223 848,089 9,172,481
Miscellaneous 2,132,893 - - 2,132,893

          Total revenues $ 102,802,565 $ 4,383,223 $ 1,690,152 $ 108,875,940

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government $ 23,498,186 $ - $ - $ 23,498,186
Public safety 20,760,522 - - 20,760,522
Public works 11,127,291 - - 11,127,291

Health, welfare, culture and recreation 23,838,712 - - 23,838,712
Capital outlay 18,541,423 - 77,344 18,618,767
Debt service:

Principal 206,438 - - 206,438
Interest 22,443 - - 22,443

          Total expenditures $ 97,995,015 $ - $ 77,344 $ 98,072,359

         Excess of revenues 
            over expenditures $ 4,807,550 $ 4,383,223 $ 1,612,808 $ 10,803,581

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Transfers in $ 102,525 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,300,000 $ 2,402,525
Transfers (out) (2,300,000) - - (2,300,000)
Proceeds from capital lease 967,990 - - 967,990
Sale of general capital assets 14,611 - - 14,611

          Total other financing sources (uses) $ (1,214,874) $ 1,000,000 $ 1,300,000 $ 1,085,126

          Net changes in fund balances $ 3,592,676 $ 5,383,223 $ 2,912,808 $ 11,888,707

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING JULY 1 $ 118,852,170 $ 87,451,281 $ 18,747,470 $ 225,050,921
Prior period adjustment 901,124 - - 901,124

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING JULY 1, as restated $ 119,753,294 $ 87,451,281 $ 18,747,470 $ 225,952,045

FUND BALANCE, ENDING JUNE 30 $ 123,345,970 $ 92,834,504 $ 21,660,278 $ 237,840,752

See Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO
THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 2)

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds $ 11,888,707

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
Statement of Activities are different because:

Timing differences for the recognition of property and production
tax revenues between revenues reported in the funds and
revenues reported in the Statement of Activities.  (1,653,000)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those
assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expense.  

Capital outlays $ 27,060,233
Depreciation       (21,839,426)

5,220,807
Governmental funds recognize gain on sale of capital assets

as the sales proceeds received.  However, in the Statement of
Activities, this amount is reduced by the remaining net book value
of the disposed assets.  This is the amount of the net book value of 
the disposed assets. (164,701)

Conveyance of assets due to dissolution of Recreation Project
Joint Powers Board during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.
Capital assets are not financial resources and are not
reported in the funds. 47,698,902

An Internal Service Fund is used by the County to charge the
cost of the County’s self-insurance to individual funds.  The
net (loss) of the Internal Service Fund is reported
with governmental activities. (500,317)

Capital lease proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term
liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets. (967,990)

Repayment of note receivable is revenue in the governmental funds, but
the repayment reduces assets in the Statement of Net Position. (25,939)

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 180,499

Repayment of Business Ready Community loan principal is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities
in the Statement of Net Position. 25,939

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO
THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 2)

Net decrease in estimated landfill closure and post closure care costs
payable in the Statement of Activities is not reflected in the funds.
The net decrease was a result of a change in the estimated costs and
not an actual repayment of the non-current liability. $ 3,890,000

Governmental funds report County OPEB payments as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of OPEB benefits
earned net of retiree payments is reported as OPEB expense.

Retiree payments $ 201,809
Cost of benefits earned           (139,183)

62,626

Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of pension benefits
earned net of employee contributions is reported as pension expense.

County pension contributions $ 2,590,540
Cost of benefits earned net of employee contributions        (8,219,812)

(5,629,272)

          Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 60,026,261

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGE IN 
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 2)

Budgeted                 
                  Amounts                 

Variance With
Original   Final      Actual      Final Budget 

REVENUES
Taxes:

Property and production $ 49,629,006 $ 49,629,006 $ 47,657,288 $ (1,971,718)
Motor vehicle 2,466,401 2,466,401 2,497,158 30,757
Sales and use 14,457,337 14,457,337 19,288,244 4,830,907

Gasoline 2,946,722 2,946,722 3,082,905 136,183
Severance 444,415 444,415 463,836 19,421
Other taxes 595,459 595,459 809,628 214,169

          Total taxes $ 70,539,340 $ 70,539,340 $ 73,799,059 $ 3,259,719

Other:
Charges for goods and services:

Landfill $ 3,000,000 $ 3,000,000 $ 4,044,014 $ 1,044,014
Other goods and services 6,159,624 6,159,624 6,675,559 515,935

Intergovernmental 14,954,250 14,977,250 12,209,871 (2,767,379)
Investment income 250,351 250,351 3,941,169 3,690,818

Miscellaneous 827,949 827,949 2,132,893 1,304,944

          Total other $ 25,192,174 $ 25,215,174 $ 29,003,506 $ 3,788,332

          Total revenues $ 95,731,514 $ 95,754,514 $ 102,802,565 $ 7,048,051

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government:
Extension $ 428,438 $ 428,438 $ 378,440 $ 49,998
Assessor 1,130,285 1,137,748 1,113,761 23,987

Attorney 3,789,760 4,223,377 3,500,488 722,889
Custodial 3,041,662 3,124,398 2,811,689 312,709
Clerk 2,853,025 2,853,025 2,567,455 285,570
Commissioners 10,186,338 9,518,921 6,487,393 3,031,528
Coroner 298,628 298,628 332,533 (33,905)

Information technology services 2,316,965 2,316,965 2,213,869 103,096
District court 1,546,019 1,546,019 1,466,871 79,148
Elections 311,851 311,851 203,315 108,536
Juvenile probation 1,195,180 1,288,756 1,170,089 118,667
Treasurer 1,280,265 1,280,265 1,252,283 27,982

          Total general government $ 28,378,416 $ 28,328,391 $ 23,498,186 $ 4,830,205

Public Safety:
Sheriff $ 9,604,268 $ 9,604,268 $ 9,129,689 $ 474,579
Courthouse and jail 8,040,678 8,040,678 7,464,239 576,439
Emergency management 167,915 403,919 176,704 227,215
Joint powers fire board discretely 

     presented component unit 3,546,433 3,546,433 3,421,626 124,807

Enhanced 911 fees 570,000 570,000 568,264 1,736

          Total public safety $ 21,929,294 $ 22,165,298 $ 20,760,522 $ 1,404,776

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGE IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 2)

Budgeted                 
                  Amounts                 

Variance With
Original   Final      Actual      Final Budget 

Public Works:
County airport $ 1,451,989 $ 1,451,989 $ 1,401,196 $ 50,793
Engineer 4,180,075 4,184,906 3,651,710 533,196
Road and bridge 5,876,166 5,876,166 5,692,053 184,113
1% sales tax fund 638,857 638,857 382,332 256,525

          Total public works $ 12,147,087 $ 12,151,918 $ 11,127,291 $ 1,024,627

Health, Welfare, Culture and Recreation:
Children's developmental services $ 5,944,641 $ 5,944,641 $ 5,631,914 $ 312,727

County fair 515,534 515,534 489,979 25,555
County library 3,778,047 3,778,047 3,628,641 149,406
County museum 502,568 502,568 477,707 24,861
Health department 2,863,593 3,026,016 2,589,177 436,839
Parks and recreation 6,046,340 6,046,340 5,810,009 236,331

1% sales tax fund 1,697,552 1,697,552 1,509,539 188,013
Joint powers land board discretely presented
  component unit 3,032,128 3,032,128 3,009,281 22,847
Senior citizens’ center discretely presented component unit 435,000 435,000 402,465 32,535
Conservation district discretely presented component unit 290,000 290,000 290,000 - 

          Total health, welfare, culture and recreation $ 25,105,403 $ 25,267,826 $ 23,838,712 $ 1,429,114

Capital outlay $ 19,359,848 $ 25,948,418 $ 18,541,423 $ 7,406,995

Debt Service:
Principal $ 206,438 $ 206,438 $ 206,438 $ - 
Interest 22,443 22,443 22,443 - 

          Total debt service $ 228,881 $ 228,881 $ 228,881 $ - 

          Total expenditures $ 107,148,929 $ 114,090,732 $ 97,995,015 $ 16,095,717

          Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
             (under) expenditures $ (11,417,415) $ (18,336,218) $ 4,807,550 $ 23,143,768

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ - $ - $ 102,525 $ 102,525
Transfers (out) (2,740,055) (3,095,737) (2,300,000) 795,737
Proceeds from capital lease - - 967,990 967,990

Sale of general capital assets 4,725 4,725 14,611 9,886

          Total other financing sources (uses) $ (2,735,330) $ (3,091,012) $ (1,214,874) $ 1,876,138

          Net change in fund balance $ (14,152,745) $ (21,427,230) $ 3,592,676 $ 25,019,906

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING JULY 1
$ 118,852,170 $ 118,852,170 $ 118,852,170 $ - 

Prior period adjustment 901,124 901,124 901,124 - 

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING JULY 1, as restated $ 119,753,294 $ 119,753,294 $ 119,753,294 $ - 

FUND BALANCE, ENDING JUNE 30 $ 105,600,549 $ 98,326,064 $ 123,345,970 $ 25,019,906

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND
June 30, 2019

Self-Insurance
Health    
Fund     

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 627,549
Investments 4,092,188
Accounts receivable 851,639
Due from other funds 702,879

          Total assets $ 6,274,255

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Estimated claims payable $ 870,000

NET POSITION
Unrestricted $ 5,404,255

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGE IN NET POSITION

INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Self-Insurance
Health    
Fund     

OPERATING REVENUES $ 10,530,300

OPERATING EXPENSES
Claims and contractual services 11,045,222

          Operating (loss) $ (514,922)

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Investment income 117,130

          (Loss) before transfers $ (397,792)

Transfers (out) (102,525)

          Change in net position $ (500,317)

NET POSITION, BEGINNING JULY 1 5,904,572

NET POSITION, ENDING JUNE 30 $ 5,404,255

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Self-Insurance
Health    
Fund      

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users $ 10,717,925
Payments for goods and services (11,247,222)

          Net cash (used in) operating activities $ (529,297)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers (out) $ (102,525)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income $ 109,550
Proceeds from maturities of investments 84,734
Purchase of investments (85,492)

          Net cash provided by investing activities $ 108,792

          Net (decrease) in cash $ (523,030)

Cash:
Beginning July 1 1,150,579

Ending June 30 $ 627,549

Reconciliation of Operating (Loss) to Net Cash (Used in)
Operating Activities

Operating (loss) $ (514,922)
(Increase) Decrease in Assets and (Decrease) in Liabilities:

Accounts receivable 890,504
Due from other funds (702,879)
Estimated claims payable (202,000)

          Net cash (used in) operating activities $ (529,297)

NONCASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net increase in fair value of investments $ 7,580

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUND
June 30, 2019

Custodial 
Fund    

ASSETS
Cash $ 14,675,380
Investments 37,358
Receivables:

Property and production taxes (net of allowance for uncollectibles) 7,608,463
Other taxes 43,726

          Total assets $ 22,364,927

LIABILITIES 
Taxes due to other entities $ 9,919,623

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes collected in advance $ 7,700,902

NET POSITION
Restricted for:

Governmental organizations $ 4,744,402

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Custodial
Fund   

ADDITIONS
Contributions:

Special escrow taxes $ 8,428,329
Investment Earnings:

Interest - special escrow taxes 99,576
Interest - taxes paid in protest 3,394

          Total Additions $ 8,531,299

DEDUCTIONS
Special escrow taxes paid to local governments $ 17,062,089
Refunded taxes paid in protest 639,447

          Total Deductions $ 17,701,536

          Net (Decrease) in Fiduciary Net Position $ (9,170,237)

Net Position, Beginning, July 1 13,914,639

Net Position, Ending, June 30 $ 4,744,402

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity

Campbell County, Wyoming (the “County”) is a political subdivision of the State of Wyoming governed by an
elected Board of five Commissioners.  As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, these financial statements present the County and its component units, entities for which the County is
considered to be financially accountable.  A component unit is included in the County’s reporting entity if it is both
fiscally dependent upon the County (the primary government) and there is a potential for the component unit to
provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the County.  In addition, legally
separate, tax-exempt entities are included as component units if: 1) the economic resources received or held are done
entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the County, its component units or its constituents; 2) the County,
or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, a majority of the economic resources
received or held by the separate organization, and 3) the economic resources received or held by an individual
organization that the County, or its component units, is entitled to,  or has the ability to otherwise access, are
significant to the County.  The County is required to consider other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the County are such that an exclusion would cause the County’s financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete.  Because none of the component units function as a integral part of the
County, all component units are presented discretely.  The discretely presented component units are reported in
separate columns in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize that they are legally separate from the
County.  Each discretely presented component unit has a June 30, 2019 year end except the Senior Citizens' Center
Foundation, Inc. which is combined with the Senior Citizens' Center.  The Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc.
had a September 30, 2018 year end.

Discretely Presented Component Units

Joint Powers Fire Board 
Joint Powers Public Land Board
Campbell County Recreation Project Joint Powers Board
Campbell County Library Foundation, Inc.
Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center
Campbell County Weed and Pest Board
Conservation District
Campbell County CARE Board

The Joint Powers Fire Board (the “Fire Board”) is responsible for the fire protection and prevention for Campbell 
County.  The Board of Directors is composed of seven appointed members.  Four of the members are appointed by
the Board of County Commissioners. The Fire Board is funded jointly by the County, the City of Gillette, and the
Town of Wright.

The Joint Powers Public Land Board (the “Public Land Board”) is responsible for the promotion, management, and
services of CAM-PLEX, a multi-purpose events facility.  The Board of Directors is composed of seven members. 
Five of the members are appointed by the Board of County Commissioners.  The Public Land Board is funded jointly
by the County and the City of Gillette.  The Public Land Board has also established the Multi-Events Center Special
Revenue Fund.  This fund was established to account for a capital facilities tax for the repairs and maintenance of
the Wyoming Center, a component of the CAM-PLEX.  This fund now accounts for excess monies generated by a
capital facilities tax.  This tax has expired and is no longer being levied.

The Campbell County Recreation Project Joint Powers Board (the”Recreation Board”) was established under a Joint
Powers Agreement dated November 6, 2007, entered into by and between Campbell County, the City of Gillette, and
Campbell County School District No. 1.  The purpose of the Recreation Board is to provide an efficient, orderly, and
economically feasible method of financing a recreation center and a sports facility for tennis, track and soccer, which
is of service to and for the benefit of the participating agencies and their residents.  The Recreation Center was
completed during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010.  See Note 3G for a description of the remaining debt on this
facility.  The Recreation Board is governed by a five-member Board of Directors.  Two of the directors are appointed
by the County Commissioners.  The remaining debt was retired during the year ended June 30, 2019 and the
Recreation Board was dissolved June 26, 2019.  The County retained ownership of the capital facilities and is
responsible for their continued maintenance.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Campbell County Library Foundation, Inc. (the “Library Foundation") is a nonprofit foundation established to
receive, hold and expend gifts and contributions for the enhancement of the Campbell County Library System.  The
Library Foundation supports purchases and activities that enhance the quality of the library services available and
cannot reasonably be done with tax monies.  In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, the Library Foundation has
been determined to be a component unit and is presented as a discretely presented component unit in the County’s
financial statements.  The Library Foundation holds donor-restricted investments of $1,702,248.  These investments
are permanently restricted endowments.  Net appreciation of $450,027 on these investments is available for
expenditure and is reported as unrestricted net position in the Statement of Net Position.  The investment of the assets
is to emphasize total return, that is, the aggregate return from capital appreciation and interest income.

The Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center (the “Senior Citizens’ Center”) is a private, non profit organization
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  It aids senior citizens in
arranging for health services, home care, meals, transportation and recreation throughout Campbell County.  The
Center is governed by a seven-member Board of Directors.  Four of the directors are appointed by the Board of
County Commissioners.  The Senior Citizens' Center is fiscally dependent upon the County because the County
provides a significant portion of the Center’s total funding.  The County also provides the Senior Citizens' Center
with a multi-purpose building. 

The Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc. (the “ Senior Foundation”) is a legally separate, tax-exempt component
unit of the Senior Citizens' Center.  The Senior Foundation acts primarily to secure gifts, endowments, memorials
and to sponsor functions for buildings and financial support of the Senior Citizens' Center, or any other programs
to be of benefit to the elderly.  The seven-member board of the Senior Foundation is elected by the general
membership of the Senior Citizens' Center.  Although the Senior Citizens' Center does not control the timing or
amount of receipts from the Senior Foundation, the majority of resources, or income thereon, that the Senior
Foundation holds and invests are designated to the activities of the Senior Citizens' Center and elderly programs. 
Because these resources held by the Senior Foundation can be used by, or for the benefit of, the Senior Citizens'
Center and elderly programs, the Senior Foundation is considered a component unit of the Senior Citizens' Center
and is combined with the Senior Citizens' Center.

The fiscal year of operation for the Senior Foundation is October 1 through September 30.  Financial information
included is as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018.  During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the
Senior Foundation distributed $13,300 to the Senior Citizens' Center.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019
the Senior Citizens' Center received $12,025 from the Senior Foundation.  Due to having different fiscal year ends,
interfund activity between the two entities has not been eliminated.

The Campbell County Weed and Pest Board (the “District”) was established through the enactment of the Wyoming
Weed and Pest Control Act of 1973.  The District is responsible for the implementation and monitoring of an
effective program for the control of declared and designated weeds and pests.  The District’s Board of Directors is
composed of five members, all appointed by the Board of County Commissioners.  The District is funded through
a discrete levy of property taxes. 

The Weed and Pest, Fire, and Public Land Boards serve all of the citizens of Campbell County.  The rates for user
charges and bond issuance authorizations are approved by the County’s Board of Commissioners and legal liability
for the general obligation debt of these discretely presented component units remains with the County.  The Campbell
County Commissioners approve each of the Boards’ budgets and allocate taxes to fund these budgets.  

The Conservation District is responsible for the promotion, protection and management of natural resources through
education, conservation practices and cooperative interaction with land users within Campbell County.  The
Conservation District is governed by five supervisors, who are independently elected.  However, the Conservation
District is fiscally dependent upon the County because the County provides most of the Conservation District’s total
funding.  
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Campbell County CARE Board (the “CARE Board”) facilitates funding opportunities to help low income
individuals become more self-sufficient; provide low income individuals with a stake in their community; achieve
partnerships among supporters and providers of services to low income individuals; increase the capacity of agencies
to achieve results; and strengthen family and other supportive systems to help low income individuals (especially
vulnerable populations) achieve their potential.  The CARE Board is comprised of nine appointed and elected
members which are approved by the Campbell County Commissioners.

No separate audited financial statements for each component unit have been prepared, however, complete financial
information for each component unit may be obtained from the County’s administrative offices located at 500 S.
Gillette Ave., Gillette, Wyoming.

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units.  For the most
part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which
normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is
reported separately from the legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially
accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are
offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or
segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other
items properly not included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and the fiduciary fund, even though the latter is
excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental funds are reported as
separate columns in the fund financial statements.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting, as are the fiduciary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned, and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property and
production taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and
available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available
if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when
a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures
related to claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Property and production taxes, interest and charges for services associated with the current fiscal period are all
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Sales
taxes collected and held by the state at year end on behalf of the County are also recognized as revenue.  Other
receipts and taxes become measurable and available when cash is received by the County and are recognized as
revenue at that time.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria
are met.  Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred
and all other grant requirements have been met.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and
available only when cash is received by the government.

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the government’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources and
transactions of the general government except those required to be accounted for in other funds.

The Capital Replacement Fund was established by the County in accordance with Wyoming Statutes.  The statutes
allow the County to establish reserves for capital improvements and for the purpose of purchasing or replacing
specified equipment or a depreciation reserve for equipment.  This capital replacement fund is being funded by
transfers from the general fund.

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of
major capital facilities.  Following are the descriptions of nonmajor capital projects funds:

The State-County Road Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in accordance with Wyoming
Statutes.  The statutes state a fund must be established to be used solely for the construction of county roads, bridges
and culverts with the exception of an allowance of up to $50,000 annually for maintenance.  This road construction
fund is being funded by state gasoline and severance taxes.

The Campus Maintenance Reserve Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in accordance with
Wyoming Statutes to account for repairs and maintenance to the Gillette College campus.  This capital projects fund
was originally funded by transfers from the general fund and a capital facilities fund.

The Recreation Center Maintenance Reserve Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in accordance
with Wyoming Statutes to account for repairs and maintenance for the Gillette recreation center and sports facility. 
This capital projects fund was initially funded by Campbell County and Campbell County School District No. 1. 
Additional funding will come from these same two sources in accordance with a written agreement between these
two entities.

The Tech Center Maintenance Reserve Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in accordance with
Wyoming Statutes to account for repairs and maintenance for the Gillette College Technical Education Center.  This
capital projects fund was originally funded by transfers from the general fund and payments by Northern Wyoming
Community College District.  Additional funding will come from these same two sources.

The Wright Recreation Center Maintenance Reserve Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in
accordance with Wyoming Statutes to account for repairs and maintenance for the Wright recreation center and sports
facility.  This capital projects fund is being funded by Campbell County and the Town of Wright in accordance with
a written agreement between these two entities.

The Pronghorn Center Maintenance Reserve Fund is a capital projects fund established by the County in accordance
with Wyoming Statutes to account for structural repairs and maintenance to the Pronghorn Center located on the
Gillette College Campus.  This capital projects fund is being funded by Campbell County and the Northern Wyoming
Community College District in accordance with a written agreement between these two entities.  During the year
ended June 30, 2019 the fund was created with a transfer from the general fund.

Additionally, the County reports the following fund types:

Proprietary Funds focus on the determination of the changes in net position, financial position and cash flows.  The
County’s proprietary fund is an internal service fund.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Internal Service Fund accounts for operations that provide services to other funds of the County on a cost-
reimbursement basis.  The County uses the internal service fund to account for the financing and operations of the
County’s self-insurance health plan.

Fiduciary funds hold assets for the benefit of organizations in situations where the government does not have
administrative control over the assets, and the assets are not derived from governmental sources.  The County's
fiduciary fund is a custodial fund.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the internal service fund are
amounts which finance the self-insurance health plan; operating expenses are the payments of claims and contractual
services.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

D. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position or Fund Balance

1. Cash and Investments

The County’s cash is considered to be cash on hand and demand deposit accounts.

The County Treasurer is authorized and limited to invest in those types of securities as allowed by Wyoming State
law (W.S. 9-4-831).  There is no limitation on the asset mix as long as investments meet the guidelines imposed by
law.

Investments for the County, as well as for its component units, are reported at fair value in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application.  Accordingly, the change in fair value of investments
is recognized as an increase or decrease to investment assets and investment income.  

The County’s restricted cash consists of passenger facility charges collected which are restricted for use as detailed
in the PFC applications submitted to and approved by the Federal Aviation Administration.

2. Receivables and Payables

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as "advances to/from other funds".  All other outstanding balances between funds are
referred to as due to/from other funds.  These amounts are eliminated in the statement of net position.  Quasi-external
transactions are accounted for as revenues, expenditures or expenses.  Transactions that constitute reimbursements
to a fund for expenditures/expenses initially made from it that are properly applicable to another fund are recorded
as expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of expenditures/expenses in the fund that is
reimbursed.  

Property is annually valued and assessed January 1.  Taxes are levied on or about August 1 and payable in two
installments on September 1 and March 1.  If not paid, property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as
of May 11.  Property tax revenues are recognized when levied to the extent that they result in current receivables,
which means when collected within the current period or expected to be collected within 60 days of the fiscal year
end to be used to pay liabilities of the current period on the financial statements.  Property taxes which are not current
receivables are offset by deferred inflows of resources.

3. Prepaid Expenses

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond the date of this report are recorded as prepaid
expenses and are accounted for on the consumption method.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

4. Inventories

On government-wide and fund financial statements, inventories are valued at average cost, which is not in excess
of market, using the first-in/first-out method.  Inventory in the General Fund consists of expendable supplies held
for consumption and are accounted for using the “consumption” method, whereby the costs are recorded as an
expenditure at the time the individual inventory items are used.

5. Interfund Balances

On fund financial statements, receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans are classified as
“Due From Other Funds/Due To Other Funds”.  These amounts are eliminated in the governmental activities column
of the statement of net position.

6. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land, improvements, infrastructure, buildings, machinery and equipment, vehicles, art
work, and construction in progress are reported in the applicable governmental activities columns in the government-
wide financial statements.  Generally furniture, fixtures and equipment with an individual cost of less than $5,000
are not capitalized, vehicles with an individual cost of less than $10,000 are not capitalized, and buildings with an
individual cost of less than $100,000 are not capitalized.  Improvements and public domain ("infrastructure") general
fixed assets consisting of roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage systems and other assets
with individual costs of less than $200,000 are not capitalized.  All purchased capital assets are valued at historical
cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.  Donated capital assets are recorded at their
acquisition value at date of receipt.  Donated capital assets acquired prior to July 1, 2015 are stated at fair value as
of the date of donation. 

Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset
or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  

All reported capital assets except land, art work and construction in progress are depreciated.  Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Lives   

Improvements 20 years
Infrastructure 20-50 years
Buildings 50 years
Machinery and Equipment 5-30 years
Vehicles 8-15 years

7. Compensated Absences

Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employees' rights to receive compensation
are attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the County will compensate the employees for the
benefits through paid time off or some other means, such as payment for unused accumulated vacation leave upon
termination of services.  The County records a liability for accumulated unused vacation time when earned for all
eligible employees.  The amount due for unused vacation leave is included in accrued liabilities in the government-
wide statements.  The County anticipates that this amount will be liquidated using current available resources. 
Therefore, the entire amount is included in accrued liabilities in the governmental fund financial statements.  

8. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In general, payables and accrued liabilities that will be paid from governmental funds are reported on the
governmental fund financial statements regardless of whether they will be liquidated with current resources. 
However, claims and judgments that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund
financial statements only to the extent that they will be paid with current, expendable, available financial resources. 
In general, liabilities that mature or come due for payment during the fiscal year are considered to have been made
with current available financial resources.  Notes payable, long-term capital leases, the County’s estimated landfill
closure and post closure costs, the total OPEB liability and the County’s proportionate share of the long-term net
pension liability of the Wyoming Retirement System’s pension plans are only recognized as liabilities in the
government-wide financial statements.

9. Defined Benefit Obligations

For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with
the benefit terms.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net positions of the Wyoming Retirement
System Public Employees’ Pension Plan, Law Enforcement Pension Plan, Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plan, Paid
Firemen’s Pension Plan A and Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the Plans’
fiduciary net positions have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Plans.  For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.

10. Fund Balance

The County reports fund balance in its governmental funds based on hierarchy of classifications that are primarily
based on the extent to which the County is bound to honor constraints on the specific purpose for which amounts can
be spent.  The fund balance classifications used by the County’s governmental funds are as follows:

Nonspendable fund balances - Those balances representing amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not
in spendable form or are legally or contractually required to remain intact.  The not in spendable form criteria
includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash.  The amounts reported as nonspendable fund balances
are determined before classifying the amounts as restricted, committed, or assigned.

Restricted fund balances - Those balances representing amounts that are externally restricted by creditors, grantors, 
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments.  Restrictions can also be imposed through laws,
constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation.  Restricted fund balances are reported by the County’s
governmental funds.  

Committed fund balances - Those balances representing amounts that can only be used for specified purposes as
imposed by formal actions of the County’s highest level of decision making authority, the Board of Commissioners. 
Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the County removes or changes the specified
use through the same formal action.  

Assigned fund balances - Those balances representing amounts that are constrained by the County to be used for a
specified purpose.  These amounts are neither restricted nor committed.  The authority for making or changing an
assignment of fund balance resides with department heads and elected officials other than the Commissioners. 
Assigned fund balances represent all remaining amounts that are reported in all the governmental funds except for
the General Fund.  Assigned fund balances are not classified as nonspendable and are neither restricted or committed.

Unassigned fund balances - Those fund balances representing the remaining classification for the General Fund. 
This balance represents the fund balance of the general fund that has not been assigned to other funds and has not
been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes in the general fund.  If expenditures incurred for specified
purposes exceed the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for those purposes, a negative unassigned fund
balance may be reported.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources (the
total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted,
committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements, a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the County’s policy to
consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of unrestricted fund
balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed
fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance.  Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

11. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources.  Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those
assets.  Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on its use through the enabling
legislation adopted by the County or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or
regulations of other governments.

Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources.  In
order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted-net position and unrestricted-net position in the government-wide
and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which resources are
considered to be applied.  It is the County’s policy to consider restricted-net position to have been depleted before
unrestricted-net position is applied.

12. Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Note 2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

A. Budgetary Information

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.  Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the General and, when expenditures are anticipated during
the fiscal year, Capital Projects Funds and the Discretely Presented Component Units.  All annual appropriations
lapse at fiscal year end. 

On or before May 1 of each year, all agencies of the County submit requests for appropriation to the Clerk’s office
so that a budget may be prepared.  The budget is prepared by fund, function and activity, and includes information
on the past year, current year estimates and requested appropriations for the next fiscal year.  

Before May 15, the proposed budget is presented to the Board of Commissioners for review.  The Commissioners
hold public hearings and may add to, subtract from or change appropriations, but may not change the form of the
budget.  Any changes in the budget must be within the revenues and reserves estimated as available by the Clerk’s
office, or the revenue estimates must be changed by an affirmative vote of the majority of the Board of
Commissioners.

Unexpended budgeted amounts lapse at the end of the budget year.  Spending control is established at the fund level
for the General and Capital Projects Funds and the Discretely Presented Component Units.  Management control is
exercised at the budgetary line item level.  The County may amend its budget after it is approved using the same
procedures necessary to approve the original budget.  Over the course of the year, the County revised the annual
budget once.  The amounts reported as the original and final budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect
appropriation in the first complete appropriated budget and the final appropriation amounts, including all
supplemental appropriations.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability (Continued)

B. Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

For the year ended June 30, 2019 the following department of the General Fund overexpended its budget:

Coroner $ 33,905

Note 3. Detailed Notes on All Funds

A. Deposits, Investments and Beneficial Interest

Deposits - Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the County’s deposits may
not be returned to it.  The County’s policy requires all acceptable securities pledged as collateral must have a fair
market value equal to or exceeding 102 percent of total deposits, including any accrued interest, less the amount of
Federal Deposit Corporation Insurance (FDIC), unless an exception is specifically granted by the Board of
Commissioners or an authorized representative of the Board.

Deposits of the primary government and all discretely presented component units, except the Library Foundation and
the Senior Citizens’ Center (including its Foundation), were covered in their entirety by federal depository insurance
and collateral held by the County’s agent under a joint custody receipt in the County’s name at June 30, 2019.  The
Senior Citizens' Center, Senior Foundation and Library Foundation do not have collateralization requirements as
required by the Wyoming State Statutes.  Management does not anticipate a loss as a result of this situation.

Investments - The County is authorized by its governing board to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, notes
and bonds, agencies of all the U.S. Government that are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States
Government, Government National Mortgage Association mortgage-backed pass-through certificates, which are all
authorized by Wyoming State Statute 9-4-831.

Investments of the County are reported at fair value.  The Wyoming State Treasurer Asset Reserve (WYO-STAR)
and Wyoming Government Investment Fund (WGIF)  operate in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 
The WYO-STAR and WGIF investment portfolios administer the short-term cash deposits made with the State by
local entities.  The investments are administered to provide liquid cash reserves, placing the majority portion in cash
portfolio and the rest in an extended cash portfolio.  Specified State of Wyoming elected officials are responsible for
regulatory oversight of WYO-STAR.  The weighted average maturity of WYO-STAR is 224 days, but the weighted
average maturity of this fund for the County is 1 day at June 30, 2019.  WGIF is sponsored by the Wyoming
Association of Municipalities and the Wyoming School Board Association and is governed by a board elected by
the depositors.  The weighted average maturity of WGIF liquid asset series is 53 days, but the weighted average
maturity of this fund for the County is 1 day at June 30, 2019.  The weighted average maturity of WGIF fixed-
rate/fixed-term pools is 870 days at June 30, 2019.  The investments of the Library Foundation are held by First
Interstate Bank Wealth Management.  The weighted average maturity of this fund is 1 day at June 30, 2019.

Fair Value of Investments - The County measures and records its investments using fair value measurement
guidelines established by generally accepted accounting principles.  These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair
value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data, for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
values of the assets or liabilities.
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The County and its component units have the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019:
           Fair Value Measurement Using              

June 30,     
2019        Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   

Primary Government
Investments by Fair Value Level
WYO-STAR $ 62,788,548 $ - $ 62,788,548 $ - 
Wyoming Government Investment Fund

Fixed-rate/Fixed-term pools 152,101,428 - 152,101,428 - 

Total primary government investments
measured by fair value level $ 214,889,976 $ - $ 214,889,976 $ - 

Primary Government
Investments Measured at Net Asset Value (NAV)
Wyoming Government Investment Fund
  Liquid Asset Series $ 19,010,688

Total primary government investments $ 233,900,664

Fiduciary Fund
Investments by Fair Value Level
WYO-STAR $ 37,358 $ - $ 37,358 $ - 

Component Units
Investments by Fair Value Level
Weed and Pest Board - WYO-STAR $ 594,928 $ - $ 594,928 $ - 
Joint Powers Public Land Board - WYO-STAR 9,281,545 - 9,281,545 - 

Total component units’ investments 
measured by fair value level $ 9,876,473 $ - $ 9,876,473 $ - 

Component Unit
Investments Measured at Net Asset Value (NAV)
Conservation District
  Wyoming Government Investment Fund
    Liquid Asset Series $ 113,011
Joint Powers Public Land Board

Wyoming Government Investment Fund
Liquid Asset Series 1,767,950

Total component units’ investments
measured by net asset value $ 1,880,961

Total Component Units’ investments $ 11,757,434
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Investments classified in Level 2 are valued using the following approaches:

WYO-STAR funds are valued, by applying the June 30, 2019 fair value factor, by the Wyoming State Treasurer’s
office and represent the County’s and its discretely presented component units’ interests in the pool based on the
County and its discretely presented component units’ cash balances as percentages of the total cash balance of the
pool (Level 2 input).  The Fund is comprised of short-term bonds and cash only, and the County is eligible to redeem
these funds at any time, with no redemption notice period required.

Values for funds invested in Wyoming Government Investment Fund Fixed-rate/Fixed-term pools are valued by
WGIF using the prices quoted for identical securities in markets that are not active (Level 2 inputs).  Those funds
are invested through maturity date of the underlying asset, and no investment made in a Fixed-rate/Fixed-term Series
may be withdrawn from that Series prior to its stated maturity date unless a minimum of 100,000 shares is withdrawn,
with at least one business day notice given.  The redemption value per share on the termination date of a Fixed-Term
Series will be equal to the original purchase price for such share, plus dividends thereon, less such share’s allocation
of any losses incurred by the Series other than losses resulting from premature redemption of shares of a Series.

Investments valued using the net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent) are assets being reported according
to GASB No. 79 requirements following amortized cost by the Wyoming Government Investment Fund.  Entities
are eligible to redeem the funds in the Liquid Asset Series at any time, with no redemption notice period required.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest rate changes.  The County’s
investment policy states that the County’s investment portfolio will be designed to obtain a reasonable rate of return
during budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the County’s investment risk constraints and cash flow
needs.  The County’s investment strategy is active and will generally purchase instruments with the intent of holding
the investments until maturity.  The benchmark the Treasurer uses to determine whether reasonable yields are being
achieved is if the rate of return on all average cash and investment balances is within 100 basis points (1 percentage
point) below the lower of 1) the average ninety day T-Bill rate, or 2) the average annual earnings rate of the WYO-
STAR Local Government Investment Pool, as defined by Wyoming Statute 9-1-416. 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counter party to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  Investing
is performed in accordance with investing policies adopted by the governing board complying with State Statutes. 
The investments held by the Wyoming Government Investment Fund are rated by Standard & Poors.

Investments - As of June 30, 2019 the County had the following investments:

Weighted
Credit     Average Specific    

Fair Value  Quality    Maturity Identification
Investment Type or NAV   Ratings (1) (Days)   Maturity   

Primary Government

WYO-STAR Local Government
  Investment Pool $ 62,788,548 N/A 1 - 
Wyoming Government Investment Fund -
  Liquid Asset Series 19,010,688 AAAm 1 - 
Wyoming Government Investment Fund -
  Fixed-rate/Fixed-term Pools 152,101,428 AA+ 870 - 

          Total Primary Government $ 233,900,664

Fiduciary Funds
WYO-STAR Local Government

  Investment Pool $ 37,358 N/A 1 - 
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Weighted
Credit     Average Specific    

Fair Value  Quality    Maturity Identification
Investment Type or NAV   Ratings (1) (Days)   Maturity   

Component Units
Weed and Pest Board
  WYO-STAR Local Government 
    Investment Pool $ 594,928 N/A 1 - 
Joint Powers Public Land Board
  Wyoming Government Investment Fund -
    Liquid Asset Series 1,767,950 AAAm 1 - 
  WYO-STAR Local Government

    Investment Pool 9,281,545 N/A 1 - 
Conservation District
  Wyoming Government Investment Fund -
      Liquid Asset Series 113,011 AAAm 1 - 

          Total Component Units $ 11,757,434

          Total Investments $ 245,695,456

(1)Ratings are provided where applicable to indicate associated credit risk.  N/A indicates not applicable.

Investments of the Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc. and Library Foundation, Inc. are not included above
because these entities are legally separate tax-exempt entities and are not regulated by Wyoming State Statutes.  The
Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc. and Library Foundation, Inc. are not essential when considering their
relationships with the primary government.

For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the government
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party.  Investments in open-end mutual funds and external investment pools are not exposed to custodial credit risk
because their existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form, and therefore, the
County is not exposed to custodial credit risk related to these types of investments.

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single
issuer.  Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external
investment pools, and other pooled investments are excluded from the concentration of credit risk requirements.  The
County’s investment policy related to concentration of credit risk is to diversify the County’s investments by security
type and institute in order to reduce overall portfolio risks while attaining market average rates of return. 

B. Taxes Receivable

Taxes receivable as of year end for the County’s general fund, including the applicable allowance for uncollectible
accounts, is as follows:

Taxes Receivable for 2018 and prior years $ 2,793,751
Estimated Taxes Receivable for 2019 50,074,700
Less allowance for uncollectibles (854,306)

Taxes Receivable, net $52,014,145

29



NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 3. Detailed Notes on All Funds (Continued)

Net taxes receivable of $52,014,145 for the primary government and $862,854, for the Weed and Pest discretely
presented component unit on the statement of net position includes $50,074,700 and $831,500 of 2019 taxes
respectively.  These amounts represent estimated taxes based on the 2019 assessed valuation.  2019 taxes are not
levied until the first Monday of August, but the County has an enforceable legal claim to the taxes as of the lien date,
defined as the January 1 preceding the start of the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied.  These 2019 taxes are
included in deferred inflows of resources on the statement of net position and in the fund statements.

Governmental funds report deferred inflows of resources in connection with receivables for revenues that are not
considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the
various components of deferred inflows of resources reported in the general fund were as follows:

Unavailable

Unavailable Taxes, 2018 and prior years $ 1,697,000
Unavailable Taxes, 2019 50,074,700

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources for Governmental Funds $51,771,700

C. Other Assets

In prior years, the Library Foundation transferred funds to the Wyoming Community Foundation to establish an
investment in an agency endowment fund and named the Library Foundation as beneficiary.  Under the terms of the
agreement, the Library Foundation can receive a distribution representing a reasonable rate of return on investment
of the assets.  Variance power has been granted to the Wyoming Community Foundation to make distributions from
the fund in accordance with its Articles of Incorporation and in accordance with the Library Foundation's expressed
intent.

Beneficial interest in assets held by the Wyoming Community Foundation:  the fair value for the beneficial interest
is estimated by using the historical cost plus (less) realized and unrealized gains, dividends and interest, and annual
distributions and investment fees to calculate the change in fair value, in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 958-30-35-10.  At June 30, 2019 this interest is estimated to be valued at $21,262.

D. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:
Balance    Balance   
June 30,   Additions/ Deductions/ June 30,  

2018      Transfers Transfers  2019     
Governmental Activities
Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
Land $ 17,937,326 $ 4,361,846 $ - $ 22,299,172
Art work 188,985 - - 188,985
Construction in progress 2,326,086 5,570,318 (1,474,551) 6,421,853

          Total nondepreciable capital assets $ 20,452,397 $ 9,932,164 $ (1,474,551) $ 28,910,010
Depreciable Capital Assets:
Improvements $ 14,928,437 $ 159,548 $ - $ 15,087,985
Infrastructure 83,365,872 1,490,000 - 84,855,872
Buildings 186,308,449 59,569,804 - 245,878,253
Machinery and equipment 34,769,190 4,137,225 (1,597,273) 37,309,142
Vehicles 11,830,564 944,945 (181,070) 12,594,439

          Total depreciable  capital assets $ 331,202,512 $ 66,301,522 $ (1,778,343) $ 395,725,691
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Balance    Balance   
June 30,   Additions/ Deductions/ June 30,  

2018     Transfers Transfers  2019     

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Improvements $ (4,321,759) $ (541,294) $ - $ (4,863,053)
Infrastructure (46,258,531) (3,461,896) - (49,720,427)
Buildings (45,414,336) (13,919,201) - (59,333,537)
Machinery and equipment (25,633,484) (2,976,706) 1,450,723 (27,159,467)
Vehicles (7,876,273) (940,329) 162,919 (8,653,683)

          Total accumulated depreciation $(129,504,383) $(21,839,426) $ 1,613,642 $(149,730,167)

          Total depreciable 
             capital assets, net $ 201,698,129 $ 44,462,096 $ (164,701) $ 245,995,524

          Governmental activities capital 
             assets, net $ 222,150,526 $ 54,394,260 $ (1,639,252) $ 274,905,534

Discretely Presented Component Units
Nondepreciable Capital Assets:
Land $ 5,508,669 $ - $ (3,063,559) $ 2,445,110
Art work 189,037 3,051 - 192,088
Construction in progress 7,447 392,353 (54,104) 345,696

          Total nondepreciable capital assets $ 5,705,153 $ 395,404 $ (3,117,663) $ 2,982,894

Depreciable Capital Assets:
Improvements $ 4,899,413 $ - $ - $ 4,899,413
Infrastructure 3,496,313 354,916 (1,490,000) 2,361,229
Buildings 127,102,826 203,546 (53,150,972) 74,155,400
Machinery and equipment 10,019,124 343,865 (1,763,207) 8,599,782
Vehicles 12,315,427 343,000 (216,664) 12,441,763
          Total depreciable capital assets $ 157,833,103 $ 1,245,327 $(56,620,843) $ 102,457,587

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Improvements $ (2,161,737) $ (188,412) $ - $ (2,350,149)
Infrastructure (1,868,470) (128,446) 670,500 (1,326,416)
Buildings (27,909,145) (2,547,237) 10,130,087 (20,326,295)
Machinery and equipment (6,630,761) (467,519) 942,916 (6,155,364)
Vehicles (9,525,406) (668,653) 216,664 (9,977,395)

          Total accumulated depreciation $ (48,095,519) $ (4,000,267) $ 11,960,167 $ (40,135,619)

          Total depreciable capital assets $ 109,737,584 $ (2,754,940) $(44,660,676) $ 62,321,968

          Discretely presented component units 
            capital assets, net $ 115,442,737 $ (2,359,536) $(47,778,339) $ 65,304,862
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government and component units as follows:

Governmental Activities:
General government $ 13,109,842
Public safety 1,680,148
Public works 5,808,487
Health, welfare, culture and recreation 1,240,949

          Total depreciation expense-governmental activities $ 21,839,426

Discretely Presented Component Units:
Joint Powers Fire Board $ 1,181,590
Joint Powers Public Land Board 1,509,119
Recreation Project Joint Powers Board 1,232,515
Campbell County Library Foundation, Inc. 1,257
Senior Citizens' Center 58,844
Weed and Pest Board 16,942

          Total depreciation expense-discretely presented component units $ 4,000,267

The construction in progress in the governmental activities represents construction related to construction projects
for multiple landfill projects, tennis courts, soccer fields, airport taxiway relocations, and upgrading roads.  Actual
signed contracts, not including time and materials costs, for these projects approximate $18,277,000 and will be
funded by General Fund revenues and taxes.

The construction in progress in the discretely presented component units represents building remodels and two fire
engine chassis.

E. Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers

The composition of due to/from other funds as of June 30, 2019 is as follows:

Receivables  Payables  

Major Funds:
General Fund $ - $ 702,879

Internal Service Fund $ 702,879 $ - 

          Total $ 702,879 $ 702,879

The above interfund balances are a reflection of the County's June 30, 2019 health insurance payable.

Pronghorn 
Center    

Capital      Maintenance Internal   
General    Replacement Reserve   Service    
Fund      Fund       Fund      Fund     Total      

Transfers in $ 102,525 $ 1,000,000 $ 1,300,000 $ - $ 2,402,525
Transfers (out) (2,300,000) - - (102,525) (2,402,525)

          Net interfund transfers $ (2,197,475) $ 1,000,000 $ 1,300,000 $ (102,525) $ - 

The primary purpose of material interfund transfers from the General Fund to the Capital Replacement Fund and the
Pronghorn Center Maintenance Reserve Fund were for reserve of future fixed asset replacement and repair.  The
purpose of interfund transfers from the Internal Service Fund to the General Fund is to reimburse the General Fund
for funding the wellness program.
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F. Compensated Absences

Vested accrued vacation payable at June 30, 2019 totaling approximately $2,416,000, has been recorded within the
accrued liabilities in the general fund, and vacation payable totaling approximately $285,000, has been recorded
within the accrued liabilities in the discretely presented component units.  

Generally the County allows its employees one day of sick leave for each month of employment, with the employees
allowed to accumulate sick leave up to ninety days.  Days in excess of ninety days are lost by the employees.  No
unused sick leave is paid to an employee upon termination or retirement.  The accumulated unpaid sick leave at June
30, 2019 approximates $4,067,000 for the governmental activities and $550,000 for the component units.

G. Long-Term Debt

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:

Balance Balance Due       
June 30, June 30, Within    

2018   Additions   Deletions  2019  One Year   

Governmental Activities:
Capital leases payable $ 97,526 $ 967,990 $ (180,499) $ 885,017 $ 203,501
Business ready community loan 207,514 - (25,939) 181,575 25,939
Estimated landfill closure and

postclosure care costs 24,280,000 - (3,890,000) 20,390,000 - 
Total OPEB liability 1,488,932 119,847 (139,183) 1,469,596 - 
Total pension liability 33,891,207 25,764,041 (8,219,812) 51,435,436 - 

          Total governmental activities $ 59,965,179 $ 26,851,878 $ (12,455,433) $ 74,361,624 $ 229,440

Balance Balance Due       

June 30, June 30, Within    
2018   Additions   Deletions  2019  One Year   

Discretely Presented Component Units:
Campbell County Recreation Projects

Joint Powers Board
Lease revenue bonds $ 800,000 $ - $ (800,000) $ - $ - 

Campbell County Joint Powers  Fire Board

Net pension liability $ 5,555,505 $ - $ (1,024,639) $ 4,530,866 $ - 
Campbell County Joint Powers Land Board

Net pension liability $ 2,236,366 $ 926,828 $ (323,092) $ 2,840,102 $ - 
Campbell County Senior Citizens’ Center

Net pension liability $ 771,555 $ 348,868 $ (119,073) $ 1,001,350 $ - 
Campbell County Weed and Pest Board

Net pension liability $ 311,059 $ 166,726 $ (62,602) $ 415,183 $ - 
Campbell County Conservation District

Net pension liability $ 256,284 $ 176,501 $ (66,808) $ 365,977 $ - 

Capital Leases Payable

The County has entered into lease agreements for financing the acquisition of various equipment.  These lease
agreements provide for the transfer of title to the County at the end of the leases, and therefore qualify as capital
leases for accounting purposes.  The leases have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments as of the inception dates.  The leases are cancelable should monies not be appropriated in future years.
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The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows:

Governmental
Activities  

Equipment $ 961,110
Less accumulated depreciation (111,324)

$ 849,786

Payments on these obligations are being made by the General Fund.  Annual debt service requirements as of June
30, 2019 are presented below:

Obligation  
Year Ending Under    
   June 30, Capital Lease

2020 $ 233,812
2021 213,605
2022 213,605
2023 213,605
2024 83,951

Total lease payments $ 958,578
Less interest portion (73,561)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 885,017

Business Ready Community Loan

On April 12, 2016, the County entered into a long-term loan agreement with the Wyoming Business Council, the
Business Ready Community (BRC Loan) for $259,392 as pass-through monies to a local economic development
corporation.  The term of repayment of the loan is ten years at zero percent interest and a one-time loan fee of $1,250,
which was paid at closing.  Annual payments of $25,939 are due through 2026. This note is secured by land and
buildings.  The County is ultimately responsible for the debt, but there is a corresponding receivable from the
corporation at June 30, 2019 of $181,575, as the corporation is making the required payments to the County for the
repayment of this loan.  

Annual debt service requirements as of June 30, 2019 are presented below:

Obligation
Year Ending Under    
   June 30, BRC Loan

2020 $ 25,939
2021 25,939
2022 25,939
2023 25,939
2024 25,939

2025-2026 51,880

Total payments $ 181,575
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Estimated Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

The County operates three landfills which are governed under guidelines issued by the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality - Solid and Hazardous Waste Division.  The $20,390,000 reported as estimated landfill
closure and postclosure care costs and recorded as a non-current liability at June 30, 2019 represents the estimated
costs based on the remaining requirements to reclaim and monitor each landfill until the wastes have stabilized. 
Landfill No. 1 is a landfill site currently in the process of being closed.  Landfill No. 2 is a five-phase landfill, and
the County is currently operating in phase three.  Landfill No. 2 has a remaining life expectancy of thirty-five years,
and use to date is approximately twenty-nine percent of its estimated capacity.  Landfill No. 3 received a major permit
amendment from the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality in 2012, increasing its capacity to dispose of
construction debris, and use to date is approximately fifty-one percent with a remaining life of ten years.   The County
will incur monitoring costs over an estimated 30-year period for each landfill once the landfills are totally closed. 
The estimated amounts are based on what it would cost to perform all closure and postclosure care in 2019. 
Estimated costs for closure are estimated by an external consultant.  The decrease in total liability at June 30, 2019
is due to ongoing reclamation at Landfill 1.  Landfill closure and post closure care costs are to be funded by the
General Fund.  As of June, 2019 for Landfill 1 the County is in a Landfill Remediation Program agreement with
Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality.  Under this program the State will reimburse the County for 75%
of the closure costs.

Lease Revenue Bonds

Campbell County Recreation Project Joint Powers Board (a discretely presented component unit) had previously
issued lease revenue bonds for the purpose of paying for the construction of a recreation center and sport facility. 
The original amount of these bonds was $47,400,000.  The bonds’ interest rates vary from 2% to 4% and matured
June 15, 2019.  The County’s portion of the bonds were previously paid in full; as of June 30, 2019 the Joint Powers
Board was dissolved because during the year ended June 30, 2019 Campbell County School District No. 1 made the
final payment to complete their commitment.  Ownership of the building was transferred to Campbell County.
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Conduit Debt

The County has participated in several issues of industrial revenue bonds, issued for the purpose of constructing
privately operated facilities within the County. These bonds are not direct or contingent liabilities of the County. 
Revenues from lease agreements and property purchased with the bond proceeds are pledged for the total payment
of principal and interest on the bonds, and bondholders can look only to these sources for repayment.

The County approved a promissory note, loan agreement and assignment and pledge of revenues as required by the
Wyoming State Loan and Investment Board for a "Clean Water State Revolving Loan" on behalf of the South
Douglas Highway Water and Sewer District in the amount not to exceed $5,631,500 for a sanitary sewer collection
system project.  In the event of default on the loan by the South Douglas Highway Water and Sewer District, the
County would be liable.  All payments on the loan are to be made from a special assessment imposed by the South
Douglas Highway Water and Sewer District.  The balance of the revolving loan is approximately $1,945,000 at June
30, 2019.

Legal Debt Margin

The Wyoming Constitution provides that the County shall not create any general obligation indebtedness exceeding
2% of the assessed value of the property therein.  At June 30, 2019, the County’s assessed valuation was
$4,428,276,932, and the County had no general obligation debt.

H. Classifications of Fund Balance

A summary of classifications of fund balance at June 30, 2019, not disclosed elsewhere and not apparent from the
description in the fund statements, is presented as follows:

Discretely 
Presented 

Governmental Component
Funds     Units    

Nonspendable:
Inventory $      1,681,760

Restricted for:
Passenger Facility Projects $ 167,990
Enhanced 911 Services 358,755
Legislative Requirements:

Capital Replacement Fund 92,834,504
Campus Maintenance Reserve Fund 4,059,873
Tech Center Maintenance Reserve Fund 2,522,551
State - County Road Fund 3,461,777

Outside agreements - Recreation Center Maintenance Reserve Fund 8,673,605
Outside agreements - Wright Recreation Center Maintenance Reserve Fund        1,638,325
Outside agreements - Pronghorn Center Maintenance Reserve Fund         1,304,147

          Total Restricted Fund Balance   $  115,021,527
Committed for:

Capital projects through signed contracts    $    12,663,326
Assigned for:

Fire Department expenses $ 1,217,007
Fleet Replacement 958,027
Short-term Future Capital Construction 15,156,325
Road Machinery and Equipment 500,000
Wellness              66,300

          Total Assigned Fund Balance   $    17,897,659
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Discretely 
Presented 

Governmental Component
Funds     Units    

Unassigned Fund Balance   $    90,576,480
          Total Fund Balance  $  237,840,752
Nonspendable:

Inventory and prepaid expenses-Weed & Pest Board $ 146,890
Prepaid expenses - Joint Powers Public Land Board 50,966
Inventory and prepaid expenses - Senior Citizens’ Center 59,070
Prepaid expenses - Conservation District 5,400

Restricted for:
Vehicle replacement - Joint Powers Fire Board $ 4,678,374
Children’s Series - Joint Powers Public Land Board 59,330
Operations - Joint Powers Public Land Board 1,688,811
Wyoming Center - Joint Powers Public Land Board 2,794,258
Special Projects - Library Foundation 822,386

Committed for:
Future Operations - Joint Powers Public Land Board $ 4,839,870
Future Operations - Senior Citizens’ Center 222,658
Future Operations - Senior Citizens' Center Foundation 400,000
Special Projects - Library Foundation 436,481

Assigned for:
Future Operations - Joint Powers Public Land Board $ 13,949

I. Tax Revenue

A summary of the tax revenues for the year ended June 30, 2019 is presented below:

General    Nonmajor 
Fund     Funds    Total    

Property and production taxes $ 47,657,288 $ - $ 47,657,288
Motor vehicle taxes 2,497,158 - 2,497,158
Sales and use taxes 19,288,244 - 19,288,244
Gasoline taxes 3,082,905 - 3,082,905
Severance taxes 463,836 - 463,836
Other taxes 809,628 842,063 1,651,691

$ 73,799,059 $ 842,063 $ 74,641,122

The majority of tax revenue is property and production taxes as well as sales and use taxes which are approximately 
65% and 26% respectively of total tax revenue.  Property and production taxes are based on assessed valuations and
the value of minerals extracted which may vary from year to year.  Approximately 84% of property and production
taxes for the year ended June 30, 2019 represents production taxes.  Sales and use taxes vary from year to year based
on the economy in Campbell County, which is heavily reliant on the mineral extraction industry.

J.Special Item - Conveyance of Assets, Intergovernmental

The conveyance of assets recorded in the governmental fund and the loss on the disposal of operations recorded in
the Discretely Presented Component Units represent the conveyance of land, infrastructure, and capital assets to the
General Fund by the Recreation Project Joint Powers Board during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.  As described
in Note 3G, the lease revenue bonds held by the Recreation Project Joint Powers Board were paid off during the year
and the Board was dissolved June 26, 2019.  The Board's total capital assets of $47,698,902 were transferred to the
General Fund.
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A. Risk Management

The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The County purchased standard commercial insurance
for claims and risk of loss through One Beacon’s Government Risks Division.  The coverages for significant items
and the related deductibles are as follows:

Amount of 
Type of Claim Coverage  Deductible
Property $210,556,887 $ 25,000
Business income and extra expense $ 1,100,000 $ 25,000
Accounts receivable $ 10,000,000 $ 25,000
Valuable papers $ 1,000,000 $ 1,000
Newly acquired property building $ 2,000,000 $ 25,000
Newly acquired personal property $ 1,000,000 $ 25,000
Electronic data processing $ 4,428,197 $ 1,000
Inland marine

Contractors equipment $ 5,738,481 $ 2,500
Fine arts/museum collection $ 1,289,200 $ 5,000
Scheduled property $ 1,304,092 $ 1,000

Crime $ 250,000 $ 2,500
General liability

Bodily injury/property damage * $ 2,000,000 $ 50,000
Annual aggregate $ 2,000,000 $ 50,000
Personal injury/advertising $ 2,000,000 $ 50,000
Products/completed operations $ 2,000,000 $ 50,000

Stop gap liability $ 1,000,000 $ - 
Employee benefit liability $ 2,000,000 $ 1,000
Law enforcement liability * $ 2,000,000 $ 25,000
Public entity management $ 2,000,000 $ 25,000
Employment practices liability $ 2,000,000 $ 25,000
Automobile liability * $ 2,000,000 $ 1,000
Uninsured motorist $ 2,000,000 $ - 
Umbrella $ 3,000,000 $ - 
Excess errors and omissions liability $ 3,000,000 $ - 
Airport board errors and omissions $ 2,000,000 $ 25,000
Non-owned aircraft liability $ 10,000,000 $ - 
Airport tower liability $ 10,000,000 $ - 
Airport general liability $ 10,000,000 $ - 
Medical professional liability $ 1,000,000 $ 5,000
Educator's legal liability $ 1,000,000 $ 5,000
Pollution coverage $ 3,000,000 $ - 
* $500,000 limit for claims falling under State tort limits.

Settled claims have not exceeded commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  In addition, there have
been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year in any of the past three years.
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The County has elected to provide employee medical, dental and life insurance benefits through a self-insured
program.  The County maintains a self-insurance internal service fund to account for and finance its uninsured risks
of loss in this program.  This plan provides two medical plans, one with a $500 deductible for single and $1,000
family, and one with a $1,350 deductible for single and $2,700 family.  In accordance with the Affordable Care Act,
prescription costs under a high deductible plan are applied to the insured’s deductible.  As of January 1, 2017, the
County changed its plan for employees utilizing the low deductible plan to meet new federal requirements, namely,
including an annual out-of-pocket maximum of $2,500 per person/ $5,000 per family for prescription drugs.  The
dental plan provides no deductible for preventive checkups, $45 deductible per person per year and $90 deductible
per family per year for all other dental claims.  The life insurance benefits provide up to $50,000 life insurance and
up to $50,000 per employee in accidental death and dismemberment insurance.  A third party administrator reviews
all claims which the County then pays.  The County purchases stop-loss coverage of $200,000 per single occurrence
per employee.  This premium is paid by the fund that pays the salary for the employee and is based on historic cost
information.  The long term disability benefits provide up to $5,000 per month per employee based on the monthly
benefit percentage of 60% of covered earnings.

The liability for unpaid claims cost of $870,000, as estimated by the third party administrator based upon claims filed
subsequent to year end and historical experience, which is reported in the Internal Service Fund at June 30, 2019,
is based on the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10 which requires that
a liability for claims, including incurred but not reported claims, be reported if information prior to the issuance of
the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial
statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  Changes in the fund's claims liability amount are:

Balance  Balance  
at       Current   at      

Beginning Year    Claim    End of   
of Year  Claims   Payments  Year    

June 30, 2018 to June 30, 2019 $1,072,000 $10,183,600 $10,385,600 $ 870,000

June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018 $1,049,000 $11,056,302 $11,033,302 $ 1,072,000

The County contributes to the Wyoming Workers’ Compensation Insurance program.  Substantially all County
Employees are covered by Wyoming Workers’ Safety and Compensation.

B. Contingencies

Campbell County participates in numerous state and Federal grant programs, which are governed by various rules
and regulations of the grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and
adjustment by the grantor agencies; therefore, to the extent that the County has not complied with the rules and
regulations governing the grants, refunds of any money received may be required and the collectibility of any related
receivable at June 30, 2019 may be impaired.  In the opinion of the County, there are no significant contingent
liabilities relating to compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no
provision has been recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies.

The County receives money from an additional 1% sales tax levy which is subject to renewal every four years by the
voters at a general election.  This levy was last approved by the voters in 2018.  The 1% optional sales tax generated
approximately $8,400,000 during the year ended June 30, 2019.  If this levy is not approved by the voters in the
future, it may have a significant effect on the County’s operations.  
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C. Pension Obligations

Plan Description

The County contributes to the Wyoming Retirement System Public Employees’ Pension Plan and the Law
Enforcement Pension Plan, (“Plans”) which are state-wide cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension
plans administered by the Wyoming Retirement System (WRS).  The Joint Powers Fire Board participates in four
state-wide cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plans which are administered by the Wyoming
Retirement System: Public Employees’ Pension Plan, Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plan, Paid Firemen’s Pension
Plan A and Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B.  The Weed and Pest Board, Joint Powers Land Board, Conservation
District and Senior Citizens’ Center all contribute to the Wyoming Retirement System Public Employees’ Pension
Plan.  All regular full-time and regular part-time employees of the County’s participating entities are eligible to
participate in the system immediately upon employment.  The authority to establish and amend benefits and
contribution rates rests with the Legislature of the State of Wyoming.  WRS is granted the authority to administer
the Plans by Wyoming State Statutes 9-3-401 through 432.   WRS issues a publicly available financial report that
can be obtained at http://retirement.state.wy.us/home/index.html.

Employee membership data related to the Plans, as of June 30, 2019 were as follows:

The three classes of covered employees in the Plans include: retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits,
terminated employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits, and active plan members.

Benefits provided

The determination of retirement benefits is dependent upon the employee’s initial employment date.

Public Employees’ Pension Plan
Service Retirement Tier 1: Full retirement at age 60 or qualifies for the Rule of 85.  Early retirement is permitted

at age 50 or 25 years of service.  Formula for retirement equals 2.125% times the number of years of service times
the three years highest average salary for the first fifteen years and 2.25% times the number of years of service
times the three year highest average over fifteen years.

Service Retirement Tier 2: Full retirement at age 65 or qualifies for Rule of 85.  Early retirement is permitted at
age 55 or 25 years of service.  Formula for retirement equals 2% times the number of years of service times the
five year highest average salary.

Disability Benefits:  Partial or total disability retirement is available to any member who becomes incapacitated,
mentally or physically, and cannot continue in the performance of his/her duties.  To qualify, the member must
have at least 10 years of service and must be “in service” at the time of application for disability retirement.  Upon
retirement for a partial disability, the member receives a monthly disability retirement benefit for the period of
his/her disability equal to 50% of the normal benefit payable to the member, as if the member was eligible for
normal retirement benefits.  Upon retirement for a total disability, the member receives a monthly disability
benefit equal to 100% of his service retirement benefit as if the member was eligible for normal retirement
benefits.  Disability benefits are payable for the life of the member or until death.

Survivor’s Benefits:  Certain surviving dependents receive benefits based on the deceased member’s
compensation and their relationship to the deceased, as well as the benefit option selected by the member at the
date of retirement.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and
Pest Board’s, and Conservation District’s total payroll for all employees under the Public Employees’ Pension Plan
was approximately $25,425,000, $307,000, $1,926,000, $814,000, $317,000, and $214,000, respectively.  Total
covered payroll was approximately $23,138,000, $299,000, $1,722,000, $597,000, $245,000, and $211,000,
respectively.  Covered payroll refers to all compensation paid by the County to active employees covered by the Plan.
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Law Enforcement Pension Plan

The Plan statutorily provides retirement, disability and death benefits according to predetermined amounts determined
by salary, age and years of service of the participant.  Any cost of living adjustment provided to retirees must be
granted by the State Legislature.  In addition a cost of living adjustment will not be approved by the legislature unless
the Plan is 100% funded after the cost of living adjustment is awarded.  Participants may withdraw from the Plan at
any time and receive refunds of participant contributions plus accumulated interest.

Law Enforcement Retirement Benefits:  Benefits are based on a formula involving years of service, highest
average salary, and age at retirement.  Currently, the benefit formula entitles retirees to 2.5% of the highest
average salary for each year of service with a ceiling on the benefit at 75% of the highest average salary.

Law Enforcement Disability Benefits:  Partial or total disability requirement is available to any member who
becomes incapacitated, mentally or physically, and cannot continue in the performance of his/her duties from an
individual and specific act incurred while employed.  To qualify for duty disability requirement, there is no age
or service requirement, and the member receives a monthly disability retirement benefit for the period of his/her
disability equal to 62.5% of final salary.  To qualify for non-duty disability retirement, the member must have
at least 10 years of service, and the member receives a monthly disability benefit for the period of his/her
disability equal to 50% of final salary.

Law Enforcement Survivor’s Benefits:  Surviving spouse receives benefits dependent on if the member was on-
duty at time of death.  Additional benefits are available for additional qualified dependents.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the County’s total payroll and total covered payroll for all employees under the
Law Enforcement Pension Plan was approximately $7,898,000.  Covered payroll refers to all compensation paid by
the County to active employees covered by the Plan.

Fire Board Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plan

The Plan provides retirement and death benefits according to predetermined amounts primarily determined by entry
age and years of service of the participant.  Participants may withdraw from the Plan at any time and receive refunds
of participant contributions plus accumulated interest.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Fire Board’s total payroll for all volunteers was approximately $128,000.

Fire Board Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A

The Plan statutorily provides retirement, disability and death benefits according to a percentage of a fireman first
class salary.  The Plan also statutorily provides for an annual percentage increase in the benefit amounts beginning
in the year following twelve (12) months of payments, by at least 3%.  Participants may withdraw from the Plan at
any time and receive refunds of participant contributions without interest.
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Fire Board Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B

The Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits according to predetermined formulas.  Any cost of living
adjustment provided to retirees is granted by the State Legislature.  In addition a cost of living adjustment will not
be approved by the legislature unless the Plan is 100% funded after the cost of living adjustment is awarded. 
Participants may withdraw from the Plan at any time and receive refunds of participant contributions without interest.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Fire Board’s total payroll for all employees was approximately $1,785,000. 
Total covered payroll was approximately $1,501,000.  Covered payroll refers to all compensation paid by the Fire
Board to active employees covered by the Plan.

Contributions

Per Title 9-3-412 and 413 of Wyoming State Statutes, member contributions of the Public Employees’ Pension Plan
were required to be 8.25% of compensation and employer contributions were required to be 8.37% of compensation
from July 1, 2018 through August 31, 2018.  From September 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 the required member
contribution rate increased to 8.50% of compensation and the required employer contribution rate increased to 8.62%
of compensation.  In accordance with Title 9-3-412(c)(ii) of State Statutes, the County, Fire Board, Land Board,
Senior Citizens’ Center, and Weed and Pest Board have elected to pay all the members’ contributions in addition to
the employer’s contributions.  For the first year of employment, employees of the Conservation District pay the
members’ portion; in subsequent years the Conservation District has elected to pay all the members’ contributions
in addition to the employer’s contribution.  Total contributions to the pension plan from the County, Fire Board, Land
Board, Senior Citizens’ Center, Weed and Pest Board and Conservation District were approximately $3,940,000,
$51,000, $293,000, $102,000, $42,000, and $32,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019, respectively. 

Per Title 9-3-401 through 432 of Wyoming State Statutes, for the year ended June 30, 2019, member contributions
of the Law Enforcement Pension Plan were required to be 8.6% of compensation and employer contributions were
required to be 8.6% of compensation.  In accordance with Title 9-3-412(c)(ii) of State Statutes, the County has
elected to pay all of the members’ contributions in addition to the employer’s contributions.  Total contributions to
the pension plan from the County were approximately $1,358,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Per Title 35-9-601 through 35-9-615 of Wyoming State Statutes, for the year ended June 30, 2019, if a volunteer
attends a minimum of six (6) scheduled meetings per year and a minimum of twelve (12) training opportunities per
year, member contributions of the Volunteer Fireman’s Pension Plan require $15/month be paid into the Plan by
either the member or the employer.  In accordance with Title 9-3-412(c)(ii) of State Statutes, the County has elected
to pay all of the contributions for members who meet the requirements.  Volunteers who do not meet the minimum
requirements are still able to pay the cost themselves as long as they remain a member of the department.  Total
contributions to the pension plan from the Fire Board were approximately $14,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Per Title 15-5-201 through 15-5-210 of Wyoming State Statutes, for the year ended June 30, 2019, no member
contributions of the Paid Fireman’s Pension Plan A are required.  The Plan contributions were suspended in 1997
as the Plan had been actuarially determined to be over-funded.  The Plan is being reviewed to determine appropriate
measures to take to ensure this plan is adequately funded, as it is a closed Plan.

Per Title 15-5-401 through 15-5-422 to Wyoming State Statutes, for the year ended June 30, 2019, member
contributions of the Paid Fireman’s Pension Plan B were required to be 9.245% of compensation and employer
contributions were required to be 12% of compensation.  The Fire Board has elected to pay 5.2% of the members’
contributions in addition to the employer’s contributions.  Total contributions to the pension plan from the Fire Board
were approximately $258,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to Pensions

At June 30, 2019 the County, Fire Board, Land Board, Senior Citizens’ Center, Weed and Pest Board and
Conservation District reported a liability of $51,435,436, $4,530,866, $2,840,102, $1,001,350, $415,183 and
$365,977, respectively for their proportionate shares of the net pension liabilities.  The net pension liabilities were
measured as of December 31, 2018, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liabilities were
determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2019.  The County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior
Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and Pest Board’s, and Conservation District’s  proportions of the net pension liabilities
were based on the relationship of the County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and
Pest Board’s, and Conservation District’s, total contributions to their respective plans for the year ended December
31, 2018 to the contributions of all participating employers for the same period.  At December 31, 2018, the
County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and Pest Board’s, and Conservation District’s 
proportions were as follows:

Entity’s       Increase     
Percentage of  (Decrease)  

the Net Pension From       
Liability       Proportion   

At           At          
December 31, December 31,

2018        2017        

County:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 1.3120638% .0049 %
Law Enforcement Pension Plan 4.7420870% (.0195)%

Fire Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 0.0165587% (.0005)%
Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plan 3.5386501% (.3416)%
Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A 0.7299565% .0039 %
Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B 5.2907785% (.6092)%

Land Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 0.0932621% (.0049)%

Senior Citizens’ Center:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 0.0328819% (.0010)%

Weed and Pest Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 0.0136336% (.00001)%

Conservation District: 
Public Employees’ Pension Plan 0.0120178% .0008 %

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the County, Fire Board, Land Board, Senior Citizens’ Center, Weed and Pest
Board, and Conservation District, respectively, recognized pension expense of approximately $8,220,000,
$1,025,000, $323,000, $119,000, $63,000 and $67,000.  At June 30, 2019, the County, Fire Board, Land Board,
Senior Citizens’ Center, Weed and Pest Board, and Conservation District reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
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Deferred  Deferred
Outflows   Inflows 

Of          Of     
Resources Resources

County:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 16,801 $ 1,531,126
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 8,055,375 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 167,126 1,316,719
Change in assumption 6,893,568 - 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,334,297 - 

          Total $ 16,467,167 $ 2,847,845

Fire Board:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 3,592 $ 522,778
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 782,944 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 271,983 663,469
Change in assumption 1,472,141 1,424,649
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 109,845 - 

          Total $ 2,640,505 $ 2,610,896

Land Board:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 74,172
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 433,118 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 28,788 239,808
Change in assumption 149,281 - 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 74,522 - 

          Total $ 685,709 $ 313,980

Senior Citizens’ Center:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 25,760
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 155,815 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 6,455 70,150
Change in assumption 51,502 - 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 25,350 - 

          Total $ 239,122 $ 95,910

Weed and Pest Board:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 10,409
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 61,512 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 5,532 492
Change in assumption 20,764 - 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 21,239 - 

          Total $ 109,047 $ 10,901
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Deferred      Deferred
Outflows       Inflows 

Of               Of     
Resources Resources

Conservation District:
Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 8,838
Net differences between projected and actual earnings on Plan investments 54,567 - 
Change in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and proportionate share of contributions 27,707 4,083
Change in assumption 17,107 - 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 9,288 - 

          Total $ 108,669 $ 12,921

The $1,334,297, $109,845, $74,522, $25,350, $21,239, and $9,288, respectively, of deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions resulting from the County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and
Pest Board’s, and Conservation District’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as
a reduction of the net pension liabilities in the year ending June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Discretely Presented                                          
                                          Component Units                                           

Senior   Weed and  
Fire    Land   Citizen’s Pest      Conservation

Year ending June 30, County    Board  Board  Center  Board    District    

2020 $ 4,402,688 $ 194,159 $ 127,645 $ 41,760 $ 32,147 $ 35,081
2021 2,608,274 (5,089) 18,696 16,765 16,176 20,561
2022 2,164,604 (3,142) 11,474 9,971 8,001 12,442
2023 3,109,459 209,720 139,392 49,366 20,583 18,376
2024 - (138,052) - - - - 

2025-2027 - (337,832) - - - - 

$12,285,025 $ (80,236) $ 297,207 $ 117,862 $ 76,907 $ 86,460

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liabilities in the January 1, 2019 actuarial valuation were determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurements:

Public Employees’ Pension Plan

Inflation 2.25%
Salary increases 4.75% - 8.75%, including inflation
Payroll growth rate 2.5%
Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of Pension Plan investment expense 

Volunteer Firefighter and EMT Pension Plan

Inflation 2.25%
Salary increases 0.00%
Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of Pension Plan investment expense 
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Paid Firefighter A Pension Plan

Inflation 2.25%
Salary increases 4.50%, including inflation
Cost of living increase 3.00%
Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of Pension Plan investment expense 

Paid Firefighter B Pension Plan

Inflation 2.25%
Salary increases 4.50% - 7.50%, including inflation
Payroll growth rate 2.5%
Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of Pension Plan investment expense 

Law Enforcement Pension Plan

Inflation 2.25%
Salary increases 4.75% - 8.75%, including inflation
Payroll growth rate 2.5%
Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of Pension Plan investment expense 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table, for males or females, as appropriate,
with adjustment for mortality improvements based on Scale MP-2017.

Long-term expected rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method
in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation)
are developed for each major asset class.  These real rates of return are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of geometric and arithmetic real rates of return
for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Long-Term
Expected Expected
Geometric Arithmetic

Target   Real Rate Real Rate
Asset Class Allocation of Return of Return

Fixed Income 20.00% 1.50% 2.00%
Equity 49.00% 6.00% 7.40%
Market Alternatives 19.00% 3.10% 3.50%
Private Markets 12.00% 5.20% 7.00%
Cash 0.00% 0.30% 0.30%

Total 100.00%

Experience Analysis

An experience study was conducted on behalf of all WRS’ plans covering the five-year period ended December 31,
2016.  That study provided a detailed analysis concerning the development of the long-term inflation rate, real rate
of return and discount rate.  The study also analyzed each major actuarial assumption (e.g., mortality, salary increases,
retirement, termination and disability) and proposed assumptions consistent with the findings.
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Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of December 31, 2018 was 7.0%,which did not change
from the December 31, 2017 percentage for Public Employees’ and Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plans.  At
December 31, 2017 the discount rates for the Law Enforcement Pension Plan, Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A, and
the Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B were 7.0%, 3.75%  and 5.65%, respectively.  As of December 31, 2018, the
discount rates for the Law Enforcement Pension Plan, the Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A, and the Paid Firemen’s
Pension Plan B were changed to 5.92%, 4.01% and 7.0%, respectively.  The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate.  Based on those assumptions, the Pension Plans’ fiduciary net positions were projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on Pension Plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments
to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and Pest Board’s, and
Conservation District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the County’s, Fire Board’s, Land Board’s, Senior Citizens’ Center’s, Weed and Pest Board’s,
and Conservation District’s proportionate shares of the net pension liabilities calculated using the discount rates of 
7.0%, 4.01% and 5.92%, as well as what their respective proportionate shares of the net pension liabilities would be
if they were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.0%, 3.01%, and 4.92%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (8.0%, 5.01%, and 6.92%) than the current rate:

Current   
Single   

Discount  
1%       Rate     1%     

Decrease   Assumption Increase  
6.0%       7.0%   8.0%   

County:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 55,413,808 $ 39,956,159 $ 27,056,897

Fire Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 699,341 $ 504,261 $ 341,467
Volunteer Firemen’s Pension Plan $ 1,747,165 $ 1,259,427 $ 856,375
Paid Firemen's Pension Plan B $ 2,312,766 $ 1,110,175 $ 112,640

Land Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 3,938,839 $ 2,840,102 $ 1,923,217

Senior Citizens’ Center:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 1,388,737 $ 1,001,350 $ 678,078

Weed and Pest Board:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 575,803 $ 415,183 $ 281,147

Conservation District:
Public Employees’ Pension Plan $ 507,561 $ 365,977 $ 247,827
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Current   
Single   

Discount  
1%       Rate     1%     

Decrease   Assumption Increase  
 3.01%     4.01%   5.01%  

Fire Board:
Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A $ 2,003,643 $ 1,657,003 $ 1,377,578

Current   
Single   

Discount  
1%       Rate     1%     

Decrease   Assumption Increase  
 4.92%     5.92%   6.92%  

County:
Law Enforcement Pension Plan $ 17,283,095 $ 11,479,277 $ 6,774,097

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the Pension Plans’ fiduciary net positions are available in the separately issued WRS
financial report available from the Wyoming Retirement System, 6101 Yellowstone Road, Cheyenne, Wyoming
82002 or at http://retirement.state.wy.us/home/index.html.

D. Corrections of Errors

Net position of the governmental activities of the County as of July 1, 2018, has been restated as follows for the
inclusion of landfill capital projects previously expensed and amounts due from the Library Foundation; net position
of the Discretely Presented Component Units of the County as of July l, 2018, has been restated for the inclusion of
the Library Foundation's permanently restricted endowment (which was granted to the County but is held by the
Foundation as due to the General Fund), the Library Foundation's art collection and the Fire Board's vehicle
replacement account held by the City of Gillette:

Discretely 
Presented 

Governmental Component
Activities   Units     

Net Position, as previously reported, June 30, 2018 $394,247,180 $123,604,180
Prior Period Adjustment:

Capitalized landfill contracts, June 30, 2018 4,119,192 - 
Library Foundation endowment, June 30, 2018 901,124 (901,124)
Library Foundation art collection, June 30, 2018 - 68,585
Fire Board vehicle replacement account, June 30, 2018 - 4,477,111

Net Position, as restated, July 1, 2018 $399,267,496 $127,248,752

Fund balance of the governmental activities of the County and the Discretely Presented Component Units of the
County as of July 1, 2018, has been restated for the Library Foundation's permanently restricted endowment due to
the General Fund and the Fire Board's vehicle replacement account:
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Discretely 
Presented 

Governmental Component
Activities   Units     

Fund balance, as previously reported, June 30, 2018 $118,852,170 $ 16,752,163
Prior Period Adjustment:

Library Foundation's endowment, June 30, 2018 901,124 (901,124)
Fire Board vehicle replacement account, June 30, 2018 - 4,477,111

Fund Balance, as restated, July 1, 2018 $119,753,294 $ 20,328,150

E. Impact of Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Principles

Recently Issued and Adopted:

In January, 2017 the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities.  The objective of this Statement
is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting
purposes and how those activities should be reported.  This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be
reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-
purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial funds.  Custodial funds generally should report fiduciary activities that are not
held in a trust or equivalent arrangement that meets specific criteria.  This Statement is effective for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018.  Earlier application is encouraged.  The impact of adopting this update is
reflected in the County's financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:

In June, 2017 the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 87, Leases.  The objective of this Statement is to increase the 
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for
leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract.  Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize
a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and
a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’
leasing activities.  This Statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and earlier
application is encouraged.  Management is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this statement on the
County’s financial statements.

F. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

General Information About the OPEB Plan

Plan Description - As of June 30, 2019, an actuarial valuation was performed that has updated the June 30, 2018
actuarial valuation to the new measurement date of June 30, 2019.  The update was a roll forward of the 2018
valuation and not a new valuation.  The County’s defined benefit OPEB plan as of June 30, 2019, the actuarial date,
is a medical/prescription drug plan.  The criteria for eligibility is as follows: As of July 1, 2013 any County retiree
must have a total of eighty-five years when adding the employees age and years of service to Campbell County to
be eligible to continue under this Plan.  Any County employee who would have been eligible under the previous
requirements (been with the County for seventeen or more years, ten of which must be continuous employment
immediately prior to retirement, and is at least 60 years of age upon retirement) will be “grandfathered” for three
years.  Benefits under these retiree programs cease for the employee and spouse once an employee or spouse becomes
eligible for Medicare.  An employee and/or covered spouse must exhaust all COBRA benefits prior to being eligible
for this retiree benefit program.  Eligible retirees receive a medical/prescription drug benefit.  The projection of the
sharing of benefit-related costs is based on an established pattern of practice.  The Plan is a single employer plan. 
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.  The Plan does not issue
separate financial statements, however, a summary of the Plan provisions may be obtained at the County’s human
resources offices located at 500 S. Gillette Avenue, Gillette, Wyoming.  The retiree health care plan is established
and may be amended by the County.  The following table provides a summary of participant information at June 30,
2019.
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At June 30, 2019, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

Actives (fully eligible) 21
Actives (not fully eligible) 583
Retirees 19

          Total participants 623

Funding Policy - The contribution requirements of plan members and the County are established and may be
amended by the County’s Board of Commissioners.  Contribution amounts differ depending on the selected plan. 
Based on the plan selected, members receiving benefits contribute $760 per month for retiree only coverage and
$1,520 per month for retiree and spouse coverage.

Total OPEB Liability - The County’s total OPEB liability of $1,469,596 was measured as of June 30, 2019 and was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Salary increases - 3.5% per annum
Discount rate - 3.5% per annum

The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO Index.

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - 6.0% for 2019, decreasing .5% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.5% for 2022 and later
years.

Retirees’ Share of Benefit Related Costs - Retirees are required to contribute the full premium rates for retiree and
dependent coverage.

Marriage Rate - The assumed number of eligible dependents is based on the current proportions of single and family
contracts in the census provided, which is 35% for retirees.

Spouse Age - Spousal dates of birth were provided by the County.  Where this information is missing, male spouses
are assumed to be three years older than female spouses.

Medicare Eligibility - All current and future retirees are assumed to be eligible for Medicare at age 65.  

Actuarial Cost Method - Entry age normal based on level of percentage of projected salary.

Amortization Method - Experience/assumptions gains and losses are amortized over a closed period of 16.3 years
starting on July 1, 2018, equal to the average remaining service of active and inactive plan members (who have no
future service).
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Plan Participation Percentage - The participation percentage is the assumed rate of future eligible retirees who elect
to continue health coverage at retirement.  It is assumed that 30% of all employees and their dependents who are
eligible for early retiree benefits will participate in the retiree medical plan.  This assumes that a one-time irrevocable
election to participate is made at retirement.

Per Capita Health Claim Costs - Expected retiree claim costs were developed using 24 months of historical claim
experience through December, 2015.  The annual age 60 and 70 claim costs for retirees and their spouses is $13,900. 

Non-Claim Expenses - Non-claim expenses are based on the current amounts charged per retired employee. 
Expenses as of January 1, 2016 are as follows:

Administrative Fee $ 45
Specific Stop Loss Fee $ 112
Aggregate Stop Loss Fee $ 213

Age Based Morbidity - The assumed per capita health claim costs are adjusted to reflect expected increases related
to age and gender.  These increases are based on a 2013 Society of Actuaries study, and are assumed to be the
following:

Age Male Female

 45 4.6% 1.6%
 50 6.2% 4.2%
 55 5.4% 2.4%
 60 4.7% 3.6%
 65 1.7% 2.4%

70 1.8% 2.0%
75 1.2% 1.3%
80   .8% 1.1%

Retirement Age - The probabilities of retirement were developed from the State of Wyoming Retirement System
Valuation as of January 1, 2018.  Sample retirement ages and associated probabilities are as follows:

Unreduced     Reduced      
Age Rates         Rates       
<50 15%       1.0%      
50-54 15%       .5%      
55-56 17%       1.0%      
57-59 15%       1.0%      
60-61 13%       2.5%      
62 18%       2.5%      
63-64 15%       2.5%      
65 25%       - %      
66 30%       - %      
67 28%       - %      
68-69 25%       - %      
70-79 15%       - %      
80 100%       - %      
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Termination - The rates of withdrawal were developed from the State of Wyoming Retirement System Valuation as
of January 1, 2018.  Sample retirement probabilities are provided below: 

              Withdrawal              
           First Five Years           

Service Male   Female  

1 22% 25%
2 18% 21%
3 14% 15%
4 13% 15%
5 13% 14%

                Withdrawal              
        After 5 Years of Service    

Age Male   Female  

20 11% 10%
25 11% 10%
30 6% 6%
35 5% 5%
40 4% 5%
45 4% 5%
50 3% 4%
55 3% 4%
60 3% 4%

Valuation of Excise Tax - An active/retiree blended pre-65 claim cost is projected at health care cost trend and
compared to the excise tax cost threshold beginning in 2022 and continuing thereafter.  The County will be liable
for 40% of the difference between plan costs and the cost threshold, when the plan costs are greater than the cost
threshold.  Excise tax is not applied to Medicare retiree coverage.

Excise Tax Threshold - The 2018 annual threshold costs for excise tax are as follows and are trended by CPI to 2022:

Pre-65 Retiree Single $ 11,850
Pre-65 Retiree Family $ 30,950

On January 22, 2018, a bill was signed delaying the excise tax for two years from 2020.  The above threshold will
soon be updated to reflect this two-year delay.  The retiree threshold is assumed to increase at health CPI trend each
year.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 generational table scaled using MP-17 and applied on a gender-specific
basis.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on census data provided as of June, 2018.
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Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Total OPEB
Liability   

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 1,488,932

Changes for the year:
Service cost $ 20,536
Interest cost 55,723
Changes of benefit terms - 
Difference between expected and actual experience - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 43,588
(Other changes, separately identified if significant) - 
Contributions - employer - 
Net investment income - 
Benefit payments (139,183)
Administrative expense - 

          Net changes $ (19,336)

Balance at June 30, 2019 $ 1,469,596

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.87% in 2018 to 3.5% in 2019.

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the approximate
total OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (2.5%) or one percentage point higher (4.5%) than the current
discount rate:

Total OPEB
Discount Rate Liability  

1% decrease (2.5%) $ 1,594,000
Current discount rate $ 1,470,000
1% increase (4.5%) $ 1,354,000

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Trend Rates - The following presents the
approximate total OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentage point lower (5.0% decreasing to 3.5%) or one
percentage point higher (7.0% decreasing to 5.5%) than the current healthcare trend rates:

Total OPEB
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates Liability  

1% decrease (5.0% decreasing to 3.5%) $ 1,404,000
Current healthcare cost trend rate (6.0% decreasing to 4.5%) $ 1,470,000
1% increase (7.0% decreasing to 5.5%) $ 1,520,000
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OPEB Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB - For the year
ended June 30, 2019, the County recognized a reduction in OPEB expense of $62,626 due to changes in the actuarial
valuation.  At June 30, 2019 the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB of $40,914 and $33,971, respectively, due to changes of assumptions or other inputs.  Amounts
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:

Year ending June 30,

2020 $ 298
2021 $ 298
2022 $ 298
2023 $ 298
2024 $ 298
Thereafter $ 5,453
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN CAMPBELL COUNTY'S 
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS*  
June 30, 2019
Total OPEB Liability           2018                  2019       
Service Cost $ 19,771 $ 20,536
Interest Cost 59,963 55,723
Changes in Assumptions or Other Inputs (38,723) 43,588

Benefit Payments (163,733) (139,183)
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability $ (122,722) $ (19,336)
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 1,611,654 1,488,932

Total OPEB Liability - Ending $ 1,488,932 $ 1,469,596

Covered Payroll $ 33,406,309 $ 34,576,000
Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 4.457% 4.250%

*GASB Statement No. 75 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

County’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
County’s     County’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    
Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As

Of Net      Share Of Net County’s   A Percentage A Percentage  

Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 1.441049346% $ 21,909,720 $ 24,080,000 90.99%  - %
2014 1.412477468% $ 24,925,880 $ 24,546,000 101.55%  79.08%
2015 1.414732776% $ 32,954,047 $ 25,253,000 130.50%  73.40%
2016 1.379784800% $ 33,356,301 $ 24,679,000 135.16%  73.42%
2017 1.307138500% $ 29,794,137 $ 22,974,000 129.69%  76.35%
2018 1.312063800% $ 39,956,159 $ 22,878,000 174.65%  69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
LAW ENFORCEMENT PENSION PLAN*

County’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
County’s     County’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    
Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As

Of Net      Share Of Net County’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 5.193806779% $ 948,353 $ 7,872,000 12.05%  - %
2014 5.129324732% $ 1,511,287 $ 8,083,000 18.70%  94.76%
2015 5.045890192% $ 3,790,470 $ 8,311,000 45.61%  87.49%
2016 4.993282900% $ 3,769,525 $ 8,277,000 45.54%  88.11%
2017 4.761574900% $ 4,097,070 $ 7,724,000 53.04%  87.99%
2018 4.742087000% $ 11,479,277 $ 7,698,000 149.12%  71.22%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  

Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.019798990% $ 301,024 $ 339,000 88.80%  - %
2014 0.020634384% $ 364,134 $ 358,000 101.71%  79.08%
2015 0.019304060% $ 449,659 $ 344,000 130.71%  73.40%
2016 0.020301100% $ 490,779 $ 363,000 135.20%  73.42%
2017 0.017037800% $ 388,349 $ 299,000 129.88%  76.35%
2018 0.016558700% $ 504,261 $ 288,000 175.09%  69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
VOLUNTEER FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 4.916665447% $ 134,460 $ - -   % - %
2014 4.976818998% $ 176,403 $ - -   % 95.35%
2015 4.334882552% $ 1,373,800 $ - -   % 69.16%
2016 4.265635900% $ 1,354,159 $ - -   % 69.99%
2017 3.880267700% $ 1,109,962 $ - -   % 74.11%
2018 3.538650100% $ 1,259,427 $ - -   % 68.18%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN A*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  

Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.692483139% $ 406,366 $ - -   % - %
2014 0.702199290% $ 1,155,733 $ - -   % 45.95%
2015 0.449924332% $ 834,405 $ - -   % 40.05%
2016 0.722238200% $ 1,325,110 $ - -   % 38.91%
2017 0.726039100% $ 1,624,359 $ - -   % 34.28%
2018 0.729956500% $ 1,657,003 $ - -   % 29.99%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN B*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 7.058179136% $ (254,584) $ 1,634,000 (15.58)% - %
2014 6.413574181% $ (72,128) $ 1,711,000 (4.22)% 100.98%
2015 5.723553750% $ 1,749,953 $ 1,563,000 111.96% 79.33%
2016 6.485110800% $ 2,046,788 $ 1,822,000 112.34% 80.16%
2017 5.899952700% $ 2,432,835 $ 1,587,000 153.30% 77.98%

2018 5.290778500% $ 1,110,175 $ 1,480,000 75.01% 87.07%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY JOINT POWERS LAND BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  

Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.118146471% $ 1,796,299 $ 2,026,000 88.66%   - %
2014 0.110073465% $ 1,942,458 $ 1,812,000 107.20%   79.08%
2015 0.108934895% $ 2,537,473 $ 1,944,000 130.53%    73.40%
2016 0.107708900% $ 2,603,863 $ 1,927,000 135.13%   73.42%
2017 0.098114600% $ 2,236,366 $ 1,724,000 129.72%   76.35%
2018 0.093262100% $ 2,840,102 $ 1,623,000 174.99%   69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY SENIOR CITIZENS’ CENTER’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   

Proportionate
Share of   Plan’s      

Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    
Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As

Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.040260948% $ 612,128 $ 694,000 88.20%  - %
2014 0.037296199% $ 658,163 $ 691,000 95.25%  79.08%
2015 0.039521420% $ 920,591 $ 718,000 128.22%  73.40%
2016 0.036218700% $ 875,587 $ 648,000 135.12%  73.42%
2017 0.033849900% $ 771,555 $ 595,000 129.67%  76.35%
2018 0.032881900% $ 1,001,350 $ 570,000 175.68%  69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY WEED AND PEST BOARD’S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.011550134% $ 175,608 $ 163,000 107.73%  - %
2014 0.012551928% $ 221,503 $ 218,000 101.61%  79.08%
2015 0.012968064% $ 302,071 $ 231,000 130.77%  73.40%
2016 0.013412400% $ 324,245 $ 240,000 135.10%  73.42%
2017 0.013646900% $ 311,059 $ 249,000 124.92%  76.35%
2018 0.013633600% $ 415,183 $ 239,000 173.72%  69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY CONSERVATION DISTRICT’S 
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Entity’s   
Proportionate

Share of   Plan’s      
Entity’s     Entity’s   Net Pension Fiduciary    

Percentage   Proportionate Liability as Net Position As
Of Net      Share Of Net Entity’s   A Percentage A Percentage  
Pension     Pension   Covered   Of Covered Of Net Pension
Liability    Liability   Payroll    Payroll    Liability    

2013 0.010587891% $ 160,978 $ 182,000 88.45%   - %
2014 0.008629559% $ 152,285 $ 158,000 96.38%   79.08%
2015 0.009964074% $ 232,098 $ 178,000 130.39%   73.40%
2016 0.010747800% $ 259,828 $ 193,000 134.63%   73.42%
2017 0.011243800% $ 256,284 $ 198,000 129.44%   76.35%
2018 0.012107800% $ 365,977 $ 205,000 178.53%   69.17%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the measurement date
of December 31. 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   

County’s   
Difference  Contributions

County’s      Between   As a       
Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of

Statutorily   Related to     Required   County’s    County’s   
Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 1,729,000 $ 1,729,000 $ - $ 24,278,000 7.12%
2015 $ 1,902,000 $ 1,902,000 $ - $ 24,957,000 7.62%
2016 $ 2,125,000 $ 2,125,000 $ - $ 25,388,000 8.37%
2017 $ 1,976,200 $ 1,976,200 $ - $ 23,610,000 8.37%
2018 $ 1,906,400 $ 1,906,400 $ - $ 22,776,000 8.37%
2019 $ 1,980,600 $ 1,980,600 $ - $ 23,138,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S CONTRIBUTIONS
LAW ENFORCEMENT PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   

County’s   
Difference  Contributions

County’s      Between   As a       
Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of

Statutorily   Related to     Required   County’s    County’s   
Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 685,000 $ 685,000 $ - $ 7,968,000 8.60%
2015 $ 683,700 $ 683,700 $ - $ 7,950,000 8.60%
2016 $ 721,000 $ 721,000 $ - $ 8,380,000 8.60%
2017 $ 688,200 $ 688,200 $ - $ 8,002,000 8.60%
2018 $ 654,800 $ 654,800 $ - $ 7,614,000 8.60%
2019 $ 679,200 $ 679,200 $ - $ 7,898,000 8.60%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date

of June 30.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 23,900 $ 23,900 $ - $ 335,000 7.12%
2015 $ 27,100 $ 27,100 $ - $ 356,000 7.62%
2016 $ 30,500 $ 30,500 $ - $ 364,000 8.37%
2017 $ 28,100 $ 28,100 $ - $ 336,000 8.37%
2018 $ 23,600 $ 23,600 $ - $ 282,000 8.37%
2019 $ 25,600 $ 25,600 $ - $ 299,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
VOLUNTEER FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2015 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2016 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2017 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2018 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2019 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.

61



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN A*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2015 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2016 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2017 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2018 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %
2019 $ - $ - $ - $ - - %

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S JOINT POWERS FIRE BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN B*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 194,400 $ 194,400 $ - $ 1,620,000 12.00%
2015 $ 199,800 $ 199,800 $ - $ 1,665,000 12.00%
2016 $ 201,700 $ 201,700 $ - $ 1,681,000 12.00%
2017 $ 208,000 $ 208,000 $ - $ 1,733,000 12.00%
2018 $ 186,800 $ 186,800 $ - $ 1,557,000 12.00%
2019 $ 180,100 $ 180,100 $ - $ 1,501,000 12.00%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,

the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY’S JOINT POWERS LAND BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 139,600 $ 139,600 $ - $ 1,960,000 7.12%
2015 $ 138,500 $ 138,500 $ - $ 1,817,000 7.62%
2016 $ 163,500 $ 163,500 $ - $ 1,953,000 8.37%
2017 $ 155,900 $ 155,900 $ - $ 1,863,000 8.37%

2018 $ 132,600 $ 132,600 $ - $ 1,584,000 8.37%
2019 $ 147,400 $ 147,400 $ - $ 1,722,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY SENIOR CITIZENS’ CENTER’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 49,600 $ 49,600 $ - $ 697,000 7.12%
2015 $ 53,200 $ 53,200 $ - $ 698,000 7.62%
2016 $ 56,700 $ 56,700 $ - $ 677,000 8.37%
2017 $ 53,000 $ 53,000 $ - $ 633,000 8.37%
2018 $ 47,900 $ 47,900 $ - $ 572,000 8.37%
2019 $ 51,100 $ 51,100 $ - $ 597,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY WEED AND PEST BOARD’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 14,400 $ 14,400 $ - $ 202,000 7.12%
2015 $ 17,800 $ 17,800 $ - $ 233,000 7.62%
2016 $ 19,800 $ 19,800 $ - $ 237,000 8.37%
2017 $ 20,100 $ 20,100 $ - $ 240,000 8.37%
2018 $ 20,600 $ 20,600 $ - $ 246,000 8.37%
2019 $ 21,000 $ 21,000 $ - $ 245,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

SCHEDULE OF CAMPBELL COUNTY CONSERVATION DISTRICT’S CONTRIBUTIONS
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN*

Statutorily  
Required   
Entity’s   

Difference  Contributions
Entity’s      Between   As a       

Contributions  Statutorily  Percentage of
Statutorily   Related to     Required   Entity’s    Entity’s   

Fiscal Year Required   Statutory     And Actual  Covered    Covered   
Ended June 30, Contributions Contributions  Contributions Payroll    Payroll    

2014 $ 13,200 $ 13,200 $ - $ 186,000 7.12%
2015 $ 10,700 $ 10,700 $ - $ 141,000 7.62%
2016 $ 15,700 $ 15,700 $ - $ 187,000 8.37%
2017 $ 16,200 $ 16,200 $ - $ 193,000 8.37%
2018 $ 17,000 $ 17,000 $ - $ 203,000 8.37%
2019 $ 18,100 $ 18,100 $ - $ 211,000 8.56%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires ten years of information to be presented in this table.  However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled,
the County will present information for those years for which information is available.  Years presented are as of the contribution date
of June 30.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Total OPEB Liability

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in Paragraph 4 of Statement 75.

Changes in benefit terms

There were no changes in benefit terms between the June 30, 2018 measurement date and the June 30, 2019
measurement date.

Changes in assumptions

Changes in assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount rate and the Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates each period.  The following are the discount rates used in each period:

Discount Rate
2018 3.87%
2019 3.50%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates
2018 6.5%
2019 6.0%

Total Pension Liability

Changes in benefit terms
There were no changes in benefit terms between the December 31, 2017 measurement date and the December 31,
2018 measurement date.

Changes in assumptions

There were no changes in assumptions between the December 31, 2017 measurement date and the December 31,
2018 measurement date for the Public Employee's Pension Fund, however, the discount rate was changed from 7.0%,
3.75% and 5.65%, respectively for the Law Enforcement Pension Plan, the Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan A and the
Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan B to 5.92%, 4.01% and 7.0%, respectively between the December 31, 2017
measurement date and the December 31, 2018 measurement date.
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CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
June 30, 2019

Wright   
Recreation Tech    Recreation Pronghorn

Campus    Center    Center   Center   Center  
Maint-    Maint-   Maint-  Maint-  Maint- 

   enance     enance   enance  enance  enance 
State-County Reserve   Reserve  Reserve Reserve Reserve

Road Fund Fund     Fund    Fund   Fund   Fund   Totals    

ASSETS

Investments $ 3,422,745 $ 4,059,873 $ 8,673,605 $ 2,547,551 $ 1,638,325 $ 1,304,147 $ 21,646,246
Due from other 

governments 39,032 - - - - - 39,032

          Total assets $ 3,461,777 $ 4,059,873 $ 8,673,605 $ 2,547,551 $ 1,638,325 $ 1,304,147 $ 21,685,278

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ 25,000 $ - $ - $ 25,000

FUND BALANCES
Restricted $ 3,461,777 $ 4,059,873 $ 8,673,605 $ 2,522,551 $ 1,638,325 $ 1,304,147 $ 21,660,278

          Total liabilities and 
           fund balances $ 3,461,777 $ 4,059,873 $ 8,673,605 $ 2,547,551 $ 1,638,325 $ 1,304,147 $ 21,685,278
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 2)

Recreation Center               Tech Center                      

          State-County Road Fund                Campus Maintenance Reserve Fund              Maintenance Reserve Fund                  Maintenance Reserve Fund          
Variance Variance Variance Variance 

Final   With Final Final    With Final Final    With Final Final  With Final
Budget  Actual  Budget  Budget   Actual   Budget   Budget   Actual   Budget Budget  Actual  Budget   

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ 842,063 $ 842,063 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Investment income - 80,017 80,017 200,000 192,096 (7,904) 114,000 405,867 291,867 50,000 121,921 71,921

          Total revenues $ - $ 922,080 $ 922,080 $ 200,000 $ 192,096 $ (7,904) $ 114,000 $ 405,867 $ 291,867 $ 50,000 $ 121,921 $ 71,921

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay $ - $ - $ - $ 200,000 $ 17,250 $ 182,750 $ 114,000 $ 15,503 $ 98,497 $ 50,000 $ 44,591 $ 5,409

          Excess of revenues over

            expenditures $ - $ 922,080 $ 922,080 $ - $ 174,846 $ 174,846 $ - $ 390,364 $ 390,364 $ - $ 77,330 $ 77,330

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers In - - - - - - - - - - - - 

          Net changes in

              fund balances $ - $ 922,080 $ 922,080 $ - $ 174,846 $ 174,846 $ - $ 390,364 $ 390,364 $ - $ 77,330 77,330

FUND BALANCE, 
BEGINNING JULY 1 2,539,697 2,539,697 - 3,885,027 3,885,027 - 8,283,241 8,283,241 - 2,445,221 2,445,221 - 

FUND BALANCE, 
 ENDING JUNE 30 $ 2,539,697 $ 3,461,777 $ 922,080 $ 3,885,027 $ 4,059,873 $ 174,846 $ 8,283,241 $ 8,673,605 $ 390,364 $ 2,445,221 $ 2,522,551 $ 77,330

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 2)

Wright Recreation Center           Pronghorn Center                  

             M    a  i n tenance Reserve Fund                     Maintenance Reserve Fund                                     Totals                        
Variance Variance Variance 

Final   With Final Final    With Final Final    With Final
Budget  Actual  Budget  Budget   Actual   Budget   Budget   Actual   Budget  

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 842,063 $ 842,063
Investment income - 44,041 44,041 - 4,147 4,147 364,000 848,089 484,089

          Total revenues $ - $ 44,041 $ 44,041 $ - $ 4,147 $ 4,147 $ 364,000 $ 1,690,152 $ 1,326,152

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 364,000 $ 77,344 $ 286,656

          Excess of revenues over

            expenditures $ - $ 44,041 $ 44,041 $ - $ 4,147 $ 4,147 $ - $ 1,612,808 $ 1,612,808

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers In    - - - - 1,300,000 1,300,000 - 1,300,000 1,300,000

          Net changes in 

             fund balances  $ - $ 44,041 $ 44,041 $ - $ 1,304,147 $ 1,304,147 $ - $ 2,912,808 $ 2,912,808

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1 1,594,284 1,594,284 - - - - 18,747,470 18,747,470 - 

FUND BALANCE,
ENDING JUNE 30 $ 1,594,284 $ 1,638,325 $ 44,041 $ - $ 1,304,147 $ 1,304,147 $ 18,747,470 $ 21,660,278 $ 2,912,808



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

CAPITAL REPLACEMENT MAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Variance  
Final      With Final

Budget     Actual   Budget   

REVENUES
Investment income $ - $ 4,383,223 $ 4,383,223

          Excess of revenues over expenditures $ - $ 4,383,223 $ 4,383,223

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - 1,000,000 1,000,000

          Net change in fund balance $ - $ 5,383,223 $ 5,383,223

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING JULY 1 87,451,281 87,451,281 - 

FUND BALANCE, ENDING JUNE 30 $ 87,451,281 $ 92,834,504 $ 5,383,223
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DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
June 30, 2019

Senior   Weed and Conser-
Library   Citizen's  Pest     vation  CARE    

Foundation Center   Board   District Board    Total    

ASSETS
Cash $ 155,792 $ 1,407,204 $ 135,156 $ 53,905 $ - $ 1,752,057
Investments 756,601 835,503 594,928 113,011 - 2,300,043
Restricted investments 1,702,248 - - - - 1,702,248
Taxes receivable, (net of allowance for uncollectibles) - - 862,854 - - 862,854
Other accounts receivable - - 45,363 3,035 - 48,398
Due from other governments - 304,455 - 13,598 42,628 360,681
Inventories - 29,560 139,157 - - 168,717
Prepaid expenses - 29,510 7,733 5,400 - 42,643
Beneficial interest in assets held by 
  Wyoming Community Foundation 21,262 - - - - 21,262
Capital assets:
  Non-depreciable capital assets 71,636 172,416 - - - 244,052
  Depreciable capital assets, net 18,090 384,777 107,821 - - 510,688

          Total assets $ 2,725,629 $ 3,163,425 $ 1,893,012 $ 188,949 $ 42,628 $ 8,013,643

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Relating to pensions $ - $ 239,122 $ 109,047 $ 108,669 $ - $ 456,838

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 919 $ 14,676 $ 1,537 $ 111 $ - $ 17,243
Accrued liabilities - 50,370 52,128 13,578 - 116,076
Due to other governments 901,124 - - - 39,621 940,745
Advance payments received

on grants - - - 20,000 - 20,000
Noncurrent liabilities:
  Due within more than one year - 1,001,350 415,183 365,977 - 1,782,510

          Total liabilities $ 902,043 $ 1,066,396 $ 468,848 $ 399,666 $ 39,621 $ 2,876,574

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes levied for 

subsequent years $ - $ - $ 831,500 $ - $ - $ 831,500
Relating to pensions - 95,910 10,901 12,921 - 119,732

          Total deferred inflows
            of resources $ - $ 95,910 $ 842,401 $ 12,921 $ - $ 951,232

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 89,726 $ 557,193 $ 107,821 $ - $ - $ 754,740
Restricted for:

Library projects 822,386 - - - - 822,386
Unrestricted 911,474 1,683,048 582,989 (114,969) 3,007 3,065,549

          Total net position $ 1,823,586 $ 2,240,241 $ 690,810 $ (114,969) $ 3,007 $ 4,642,675
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Senior   Weed    
Library   Citizens' and Pest Conservation CARE   

Foundation Center  Board   District   Board   Total    

EXPENSES $ 55,982 $ 2,203,058 $ 1,126,520 $ 572,534 $ 248,824 $ 4,206,918

PROGRAM REVENUES
Charges for Services $ 9,699 $ 270,153 $ 274,870 $ 18,552 $ - $ 573,274
Operating Grants and Contributions 21,483 749,301 34,929 161,618 248,824 1,216,155

Capital Grants and Contributions - 83,606 - - - 83,606

          Total Program Revenues $ 31,182 $ 1,103,060 $ 309,799 $ 180,170 $ 248,824 $ 1,873,035

          Net (Expense) $ (24,800) $ (1,099,998) $ (816,721) $ (392,364) $ - $ (2,333,883)

GENERAL REVENUES
Taxes, Levied for Weed and

Pest District $ - $ - $ 805,111 $ - $ - $ 805,111
Other Local Revenue - 1,266,625 - 291,200 - 1,557,825
Investment Income 136,345 25,926 10,379 2,420 - 175,070

Miscellaneous - 103,529 - 3,244 - 106,773

          Total General Revenues $ 136,345 $ 1,396,080 $ 815,490 $ 296,864 $ - $ 2,644,779

          Changes in net position $ 111,545 $ 296,082 $ (1,231) $ (95,500) $ - $ 310,896

Net Position, Beginning July 1 $ 2,544,580 $ 1,944,159 $ 692,041 $ (19,469) $ 3,007 $ 5,164,318
Prior Period Adjustment (832,539) - - - - (832,539)

Net Position, Beginning July 1
As Restated $ 1,712,041 $ 1,944,159 $ 692,041 $ (19,469) $ 3,007 $ 4,331,779

Net Position, Ending June 30 $ 1,823,586 $ 2,240,241 $ 690,810 $ (114,969) $ 3,007 $ 4,642,675
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
SENIOR CITIZENS' CENTER
Senior Citizens' Center June 30, 2019 and Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc. September 30, 2018

Component 
       Unit      

Senior    
Citizens'  

Senior     Center    
Citizens'   Foundation,
Center     Inc.     Total   

ASSETS
Cash $ 1,346,358 $ 60,846 $ 1,407,204
Investments - 835,503 835,503
Due from governments 304,455 - 304,455
Inventories 29,560 - 29,560
Prepaid expenses 29,510 - 29,510
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable capital assets 172,416 - 172,416
Depreciable capital assets, net 384,777 - 384,777

          Total assets $ 2,267,076 $ 896,349 $ 3,163,425

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Relating to pensions $ 239,122 $ - $ 239,122

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 14,586 $ 90 $ 14,676
Accrued liabilities 50,370 - 50,370
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within more than one year 1,001,350 - 1,001,350

          Total liabilities $ 1,066,306 $ 90 $ 1,066,396

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Relating to pensions $ 95,910 $ - $ 95,910

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets $ 557,193 $ - $ 557,193
Unrestricted 786,789 896,259 1,683,048

          Total net position $ 1,343,982 $ 896,259 $ 2,240,241
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
SENIOR CITIZENS' CENTER
Senior Citizens' Center Year Ended June 30, 2019 and 
Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, Inc., Year Ended September 30, 2018

Component
       Unit      

Senior    
Citizens'  

Senior     Center    
Citizens'   Foundation,
Center     Inc.     Total   

EXPENSES $ 2,178,389 $ 24,669 $ 2,203,058

PROGRAM REVENUES
Charges for Services $ 216,759 $ 53,394 $ 270,153
Operating Grants and Contributions 749,301 - 749,301
Capital Grants and Contributions 83,606 - 83,606

          Total Program Revenues $ 1,049,666 $ 53,394 $ 1,103,060

          Net Revenue (Expense) $ (1,128,723) $ 28,725 $(1,099,998)

GENERAL REVENUES
Other Local Revenue $ 1,266,625 $ - $ 1,266,625
Investment Income 2,975 22,951 25,926
Miscellaneous 102,510 1,019 103,529

          Total General Revenues $ 1,372,110 $ 23,970 $ 1,396,080

          Changes in Net Position $ 243,387 $ 52,695 $ 296,082

NET POSITION, BEGINNING, JULY 1, 2018 1,100,595 - 
NET POSITION, BEGINNING, OCTOBER 1, 2017 - 843,564

NET POSITION, ENDING, JUNE 30, 2019 $ 1,343,982

NET POSITION, ENDING, SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 $ 896,259
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS 
June 30, 2019

Joint    Recreation
Joint    Powers  Project   Senior '   Weed     

Powers  Public   Joint    Senior  Citizens'   and       
Fire    Land    Powers  Library   Citizens’ Center    Pest       Conservation CARE   

Board   Board   Board   Foundation Center  Foundation Board           District Board   Total     

ASSETS
Cash $ 474,559 $ 570,488 $ - $ 155,792 $ 1,346,358 $ 60,846 $ 135,156 $ 53,905 $ - $ 2,797,104
Investments - 11,049,495 - 756,601 - 835,503 594,928 113,011 - 13,349,538
Restricted investments - - - 1,702,248 - - - - - 1,702,248
Taxes receivable, (net of allowance for uncollectibles) - - - - - - 862,854 - - 862,854
Other accounts receivable 7,264 165,797 - - - - 45,363 3,035 - 221,459
Due from other governments 4,724,538 363,793 - - 304,455 - - 13,598 42,628 5,449,012
Inventories - - - - 29,560 - 139,157 - - 168,717
Prepaid expenses - 50,966 - - 29,510 - 7,733 5,400 - 93,609
Beneficial interest in assets held by Wyoming 

Community Foundation - - - 21,262 - - - - - 21,262

          Total assets $ 5,206,361 $ 12,200,539 $ - $ 2,635,903 $ 1,709,883 $ 896,349 $ 1,785,191 $ 188,949 $ 42,628 $ 24,665,803

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 203,259 $ 156,593 $ - $ 919 $ 14,586 $ 90 $ 1,537 $ 111 $ - $ 377,095
Contracts and retainage payable - 161,881 - - - - - - - 161,881
Accrued liabilities 201,539 278,124 - - 50,370 - 52,128 13,578 - 595,739
Due to other governments - - - 901,124 - - - - 39,621 940,745
Advance payments received on grants - 175,686 - - - - - 20,000 - 195,686
Ticket revenue received prior to event - 13,767 - - - - - - - 13,767

          Total liabilities $ 404,798 $ 786,051 $ - $ 902,043 $ 64,956 $ 90 $ 53,665 $ 33,689 $ 39,621 $ 2,284,913

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Taxes levied for subsequent years $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ $ 859,142 $ - $ - $ 859,142

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable $ - $ 50,966 $ - $ - $ 59,070 $ - $ 146,890 $ 5,400 $ - $ 262,326
Restricted 4,678,374 4,542,399 - 822,386 - - - - - 10,043,159
Committed - 4,839,870 - 436,481 222,658 400,000 - - - 5,899,009
Assigned - 13,949 - - - - - - - 13,949
Unassigned 123,189 1,967,304 - 474,993 1,363,199 496,259 725,494 149,860 3,007 5,303,305

          Total fund balance $ 4,801,563 $ 11,414,488 $ - $ 1,733,860 $ 1,644,927 $ 896,259 $ 872,384 $ 155,260 $ 3,007 $ 21,521,748

          Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources 
             and fund balance $ 5,206,361 $ 12,200,539 $ - $ 2,635,903 $ 1,709,883 $ 896,349 $ 1,785,191 $ 188,949 $ 42,628 $ 24,665,803



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JOINT POWERS PUBLIC LAND BOARD DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
June 30, 2019

Multi-Events
Center   
Special   

General  Revenue  
Fund    Fund    Total    

ASSETS

Cash $ 570,488 $ - $ 570,488
Investments 8,255,237 2,794,258 11,049,495
Accounts receivable 165,797 - 165,797
Due from other governments 363,793 - 363,793
Prepaid expenses 50,966 - 50,966

          Total assets $ 9,406,281 $ 2,794,258 $12,200,539

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 156,593 $ - $ 156,593
Contracts and retainage payable 161,881 - 161,881
Accrued liabilities 278,124 - 278,124
Advance payments received on grants 175,686 - 175,686
Ticket revenue received prior to event 13,767 - 13,767

          Total liabilities $ 786,051 $ $ 786,051

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable $ 50,966 $ - $ 50,966
Restricted for:

Children’s series 59,330 - 59,330
Operations 1,688,811 - 1,688,811
Wyoming Center repairs and maintenance - 2,794,258 2,794,258

Committed for future operations 4,839,870 - 4,839,870
Assigned for future operations 13,949 - 13,949
Unassigned 1,967,304 - 1,967,304

          Total fund balances $ 8,620,230 $ 2,794,258 $11,414,488

          Total liabilities and fund balances $ 9,406,281 $ 2,794,258 $12,200,539
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS 
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 3)

              Jo i n t   P  owers Fire Board                        Joint Powers Public Land Board               Recreation Project Joint Powers Board                           Library Foundation*             
Variance   Variance   Variance  Variance 

Final  With Final  Final     With Final Final     With Final Final   With Final
Budget Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget  Budget Actual  Budget 

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Charges for goods and services 16,464 16,219 (245) 1,239,366 1,456,425 217,059 - - - 9,650 9,699 49
Intergovernmental - - - 1,358,458 1,307,845 (50,613) - - - - - - 
Federal and state grants 122,060 157,005 34,945 9,000 22,950 13,950 - - - - - - 
Investment income 1,000 111,586 110,586 19,050 292,025 272,975 - 221 221 61,700 136,345 74,645
Other local revenue 5,734,533 5,523,345 (211,188) 3,033,628 3,041,696 8,068 824,000 823,779 (221) - - - 
Miscellaneous 105,000 4,790 (100,210) 17,700 26,901 9,201 - - - 27,800 21,483 (6,317)

          Total revenues $ 5,979,057 $ 5,812,945 $ (166,112) $ 5,677,202 $ 6,147,842 $ 470,640 $ 824,000 $ 824,000 $ - $ 99,150 $ 167,527 $ 68,377

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  Public safety $ 5,118,789 $ 4,702,961 $ 415,828 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
  Health, welfare, culture 
    and recreation - - - 4,921,232 4,880,306 40,926 - - - 96,395 59,926 36,469
Capital outlay 860,268 649,670 210,598 1,043,553 995,296 48,257 - - - - - - 
Debt service:
  Principal - - - - - - 800,000 800,000 - - - - 
  Interest - - - - - - 24,000 24,000 - - - - 

          Total expenditures $ 5,979,057 $ 5,352,631 $ 626,426 $ 5,964,785 $ 5,875,602 $ 89,183 $ 824,000 $ 824,000 $ - $ 96,395 $ 59,926 $ 36,469

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
   (under) expenditures $ - $ 460,314 $ 460,314 $ (287,583) $ 272,240 $ 559,823 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,755 $ 107,601 $ 104,846

Other Financing Sources
Sale of general capital assets - 49,830 49,830 - - - - - - - - - 

          Net changes in fund balances $ - $ 510,144 $ 510,144 $ (287,583) $ 272,240 $ 559,823 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,755 $ 107,601 $ 104,846

FUND BALANCE, 
BEGINNING JULY 1 $ (185,692) $ (185,692) $ - $ 11,142,248 $ 11,142,248 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 2,527,383 $ 2,527,383 $ - 
Prior period adjustment 4,477,111 4,477,111 - - - - - - - (901,124) (901,124) - 

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1, 
AS RESTATED $ 4,291,419 $ 4,291,419 $ - $ 11,142,248 $ 11,142,248 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,626,259 $ 1,626,259 $ - 

FUND BALANCE,
ENDING JUNE 30 $ 4,291,419 $ 4,801,563 $ 510,144 $ 10,854,665 $ 11,414,488 $ 559,823 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,629,014 $ 1,733,860 $ 104,846

(Continued)
* Budgeted amounts are for informational purposes only; budget is not required to be approved by the County Commissioners.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS 
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 3)

                  Senior Citizens' Center                    Senior Citizens’ Center Foundation**                        Weed and Pest Board                      
Variance   Variance   Variance  

Final    With Final  Final     With Final Final     With Final 
Budget  Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget  

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 823,054 $ 820,271 $ (2,783)
Charges for goods and services 218,660 216,759 (1,901) - 53,394 53,394 167,300 274,870 107,570
Intergovernmental - - - - - - - - - 
Federal and state grants 808,400 832,907 24,507 - - - 26,000 34,929 8,929
Investment income - 2,975 2,975 - 22,951 22,951 1,100 10,379 9,279
Other local revenue 1,183,000 1,266,625 83,625 - - - - - - 
Miscellaneous 70,500 102,510 32,010 - 1,019 1,019 - - - 

          Total revenues $ 2,280,560 $ 2,421,776 $ 141,216 $ - $ 77,364 $ 77,364 $ 1,017,454 $ 1,140,449 $ 122,995

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  Public safety $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 
  Health, welfare, culture 
    and recreation 2,244,078 2,043,559 200,519 - 24,669 (24,669) 1,265,604 1,065,548 200,056
Capital outlay 75,000 104,790 (29,790) - - - 51,850 50,976 874
Debt service:
  Principal - - - - - - - - - 
  Interest - - - - - - -  - - 

          Total expenditures $ 2,319,078 $ 2,148,349 $ 170,729 $ - $ 24,669 $ (24,669) $ 1,317,454 $ 1,116,524 $ 200,930

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
   (under) expenditures $ (38,518) $ 273,427 $ 311,945 $ - $ 52,695 $ 52,695 $ (300,000) $ 23,925 $ 323,925

Other Financing Sources
Sale of general capital assets - - - - - - - - - 

          Net changes in fund balances $ (38,518) $ 273,427 $ 311,945 $ - $ 52,695 $ 52,695 $ (300,000) $ 23,925 $ 323,925

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1 $ 1,371,500 $ 1,371,500 $ - $ 843,564 $ 843,564 $ - $ 848,459 $ 848,459 $ - 
Prior period adjustment - - - - - - - - - 

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1, AS RESTATED $ 1,371,500 $ 1,371,500 $ - $ 843,564 $ 843,564 $ - $ 848,459 $ 848,459 $ - 

FUND BALANCE,
ENDING JUNE 30 $ 1,332,982 $ 1,644,927 $ 311,945 $ 843,564 $ 896,259 $ 52,695 $ 548,459 $ 872,384 $ 323,925

(Continued)
** Annual budgets are not prepared for the Senior Citizens' Center Foundation; budget is not required to be approved by the County Commissioners.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS 
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 3 of 3)

             Conservation District                                              CARE Board                                                      Totals                                  
Variance   Variance   Variance  

Final    With Final  Final     With Final Final     With Final 
Budget  Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget    Budget   Actual   Budget  

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 823,054 $ 820,271 $ (2,783)
Charges for goods and services 22,000 18,552 (3,448) - - - 1,673,440 2,045,918 372,478
Intergovernmental - 9,220 9,220 296,080 248,824 (47,256) 1,654,538 1,565,889 (88,649)
Federal and state grants 136,742 152,398 15,656 - - - 1,102,202 1,200,189 97,987
Investment income 1,000 2,420 1,420 - - - 83,850 578,902 495,052
Other local revenue 291,200 291,200 - - - - 11,066,361 10,946,645 (119,716)
Miscellaneous 4,000 3,244 (756) - - - 225,000 159,947 (65,053)

          Total revenues $ 454,942 $ 477,034 $ 22,092 $ 296,080 $ 248,824 $ (47,256) $ 16,628,445 $ 17,317,761 $ 689,316

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  Public safety $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 5,118,789 $ 4,702,961 $ 415,828
  Health, welfare, culture 
    and recreation 628,492 522,811 105,681 296,080 248,824 47,256 9,451,881 8,845,643 606,238
Capital outlay 1,250 657 593 - - - 2,031,921 1,801,389 230,532
Debt service:
  Principal - - - - - - 800,000 800,000 - 
  Interest - - - - - - 24,000 24,000 - 

          Total expenditures $ 629,742 $ 523,468 $ 106,274 $ 296,080 $ 248,824 $ 47,256 $ 17,426,591 $ 16,173,993 $ 1,252,598

          Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
            (under) expenditures $ (174,800) $ (46,434) $ 128,366 $ - $ - $ - $ (798,146) $ 1,143,768 $ 1,941,914

Other Financing Sources
Sale of general capital assets - - - - - - - 49,830 49,830

           Net changes in fund balances $ (174,800) $ (46,434) $ 128,366 $ - $ - $ - $ (798,146) $ 1,193,598 $ 1,991,744

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1 $ 201,694 $ 201,694 $ - $ 3,007 $ 3,007 $ - $ 16,752,163 $ 16,752,163 $ - 
Prior period adjustment - - - - - - 3,575,987 3,575,987 - 

FUND BALANCE,
BEGINNING JULY 1, AS RESTATED $ 201,694 $ 201,694 $ - $ 3,007 $ 3,007 $ - $ 20,328,150 $ 20,328,150 $ - 

FUND BALANCE,
ENDING JUNE 30 $ 26,894 $ 155,260 $ 128,366 $ 3,007 $ 3,007 $ - $ 19,530,004 $ 21,521,748 $ 1,991,744



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
JOINT POWERS PUBLIC LAND BOARD
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Multi-Events
Center    
Special   

General   Revenue  
Fund     Fund    Total   

REVENUES
Charges for goods and services $ 1,456,425 $ - $ 1,456,425
Intergovernmental 1,307,845 - 1,307,845
Federal and state grants 22,950 - 22,950
Investment income 213,177 78,848 292,025
Other local revenue 3,041,696 - 3,041,696
Miscellaneous 26,901 - 26,901

          Total revenues $ 6,068,994 $ 78,848 $ 6,147,842

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Health, welfare, culture and recreation $ 4,880,306 $ - $ 4,880,306
Capital outlay 995,296 - 995,296

          Total expenditures $ 5,875,602 $ - $ 5,875,602

          Excess of revenues over expenditures $ 193,392 $ 78,848 $ 272,240

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfer from other funds $ 250,191 $ - $ 250,191
Transfer (to) other funds - (250,191) (250,191)

          Total other financing sources (uses) $ 250,191 $ (250,191) $ - 

          Net changes in fund balances $ 443,583 $ (171,343) $ 272,240

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING JULY 1 8,176,647 2,965,601 11,142,248

FUND BALANCES, ENDING JUNE 30 $ 8,620,230 $ 2,794,258 $ 11,414,488
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 2)
State Grantor Grant      

Program Title Number    Expenditures

Wyoming Department of Agriculture
Noxious Weeds and Pests 149352   $ 21,725
Water Quality Funding N/A   396
Conservation District Base Funding N/A   8,824

          Total Wyoming Department of Agriculture $ 30,945

Wyoming Forestry Division
State Bark and Beetle N/A   $ 40,000
State Horse Creek N/A   48,622

          Total Wyoming Forestry Division $ 88,622

Wyoming Office of the Attorney General
Salary Supplement N/A   $ 4,595
Controlled Substances Act N/A   2,316

          Total Wyoming Office of the Attorney General $ 6,911

Wyoming Department of Family Services
Childcare Development Block Grant N/A   $ 14,542
Supplemental Security Income N/A   69
Social Security N/A   183
Wyoming Child Enrollment Fund N/A   12,462
Wyoming Juvenile Services N/A   50,258

          Total Wyoming Department of Family Services $ 77,514

Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality
Landfill Remediation Program LRP001 $ 3,760,548

Wyoming Cultural Trust Fund
Cultural Trust Fund N/A   $ 10,000

Wyoming Department of Education
Data - Based Individualization N/A   $ 10,000

Wyoming Arts Council
Community Support Grant 39795579 $ 12,950

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 2)
State Grantor Grant      

Program Title Number    Expenditures

Wyoming Department of Health
Community Based In-Home Service N/A   $ 91,597
End Stage Renal Dialysis N/A   280
Title III B N/A   2,382
Title III C1 N/A   6,108
Title III C2 N/A   1,615
Wyoming Senior Services Board Funding N/A   191,215
Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant N/A   29,165
Communicable Disease N/A   25,340
Prevention Management N/A   89,903
Juvenile Drug Court N/A   83,576
Adult Drug Court N/A   265,229
Medical Assistance Programs N/A   128,205
Medical Assistance Programs N/A   66,360
FY19 Preschool State Part B N/A   1,882,345
FY19 DDD Part C N/A   726,327

          Total Wyoming Department of Health $ 3,589,647

Wyoming Office of State Land and Investments
Weed and Pest Program N/A   $ 4,006
Consensus Revenue Funding - Landfill Remediation CWC-15404 208,461
Consensus Revenue Funding - Landfill Remediation CWC-15435 22,355
Transportation Enterprise Account - ADA Compliant Transportation TEA-19001 48,800
Transportation Enterprise Account - ADA Compliant Transportation TEA-19001 46,400

          Total Wyoming Office of State Land and Investments $ 330,022

Wyoming Department of Transportation
Navigation Aid Maintenance AGC008X/AGCC68X $ 25,248
Marketing/Promotions AGC007X/AGC010X 28,015
Reconstruct Taxiways - Design AGCC69A 13,831
Reconstruct Taxiways - Construction AGCC69B 87

          Total Wyoming Department of Transportation $ 67,181

          Total State Financial Assistance $ 7,984,340

Note 1. Loans Outstanding

The County received loan proceeds from the State of Wyoming in a prior year.  Following is the balance of the State
portion of the loan at June 30, 2019. 

Program

Wyoming Business Council
Business Ready Community Grant and Loan Program (Intertech Property) $ 181,575
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

County Commissioners
Campbell County, Wyoming
Gillette, Wyoming

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
Campbell County, Wyoming (County) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to
the financial statements, which collectively comprise Campbell County, Wyoming’s basic financial
statements and have issued our report thereon dated January 14, 2020.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Campbell County,
Wyoming’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been
identified.  However, as described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, we did
identify certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant
deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  We consider the deficiency
described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as item 2019-001 to be a material
weakness.
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A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  We
consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as items 
2019-002, 2019-003, and 2019-004 to be significant deficiencies.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Campbell County, Wyoming’s financial statements
are free of material misstatement,  we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect
on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

Campbell County, Wyoming’s Response to Findings

Campbell County, Wyoming’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.  Campbell County, Wyoming’s responses were
not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or
on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose. 

Bennett, Weber & Hermstad, LLP

Gillette, Wyoming
January 14, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

County Commissioners
Campbell County, Wyoming
Gillette, Wyoming

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Campbell County, Wyoming’s (County) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each
of the County’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2019.  The County’s major federal
programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings
and Questioned Costs. 

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of
its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the County’s major federal programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence about the County’s compliance with those requirements and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended June 30, 2019.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit
of compliance, we considered the County’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major
federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control over
compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control
over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention
by those charged with governance.  We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance,
as described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as items 2019-002 and 2019-006
that we consider to be significant deficiencies.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies may exist that have not been identified.  We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control
over compliance, as described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as items 2019-
001 and 2019-005 that we consider to be material weaknesses.

The County’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is described in
the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.  The County’s response was not subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Bennett, Weber & Hermstad, LLP

Gillette, Wyoming
January 14, 2020
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 5)

Federal Grantor Federal   Pass-Through   Pass-Through Total      
Pass Through Grantor CFDA   Grantor’s      to Sub-    Federal    

Program Title or Cluster Title Number  Number       Recipients  Expenditures

Department of Agriculture
Direct Awards:
Forest Service Schools and Roads Cluster

Schools and Roads - Grants to Counties 10.666  N/A - $ 99,594

Passed through State of Wyoming Department of Health 
WIC Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, 
Infants, and Children 10.557  2018I8W100343 - $ 308,062

Passed through Wyoming Office of State Lands and Investments 
Cooperative Forestry Assistance 10.664  SFA - $ 5,000
Cooperative Forestry Assistance 10.664  18-DG-11240 - 10,000
Cooperative Forestry Assistance 10.664  N/A - 2,000

          Total Passed through Wyoming Office of State Lands and Investments $ 17,000

Passed through State of Wyoming Department of
Family Services 

SNAP Cluster
State Administrative Matching Grants for the
Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 10.561  N/A - $ 5,859

          Total Pass through Awards $ 330,921

          Total Department of Agriculture $ 430,515

Department of the Interior
Direct Award:

Fish, Wildlife and Plant Conservation 
Resource Management 15.231  N/A - $ 16,063

Passed through Wyoming State Treasurer’s Office
Distribution of Receipts to State 
and Local Governments 15.227  N/A $ 40,570 $ 40,570

Passed through Wyoming State Bureau of Land Management
Invasive and Noxious Plant Management 15.230  L15AC00058 - $ 9,198

          Total Pass through Awards $ 40,570 $ 49,768

          Total Department of the Interior $ 40,570 $ 65,831

Department of Justice
Direct Awards:

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607  N/A - $ 4,420

Passed through Volunteers of America Northern Rockies
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 16.540  2015-JF-FX-K001 $ 15,861 $ 15,861

(Continued)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 5)

Federal Grantor Federal   Pass-Through   Pass-Through Total      
Pass Through Grantor CFDA   Grantor’s      to Sub-    Federal    

Program Title or Cluster Title Number  Number       Recipients  Expenditures

Passed through State of Wyoming Attorney General's Office
Missing Children's Assistance 16.543  N/A - $ 146
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 

Program 16.738  N/A - 42,366

          Total Passed through State of Wyoming Attorney General's
           Office $ 42,512

          Total Pass through Awards $ 15,861 $ 58,373

          Total Department of Justice $ 15,861 $ 62,793

Department of Transportation
Passed through Wyoming Department of Transportation

Airport Improvement Program 20.106  3-56-0012-44 - $ 345,814
Airport Improvement Program 20.106  3-56-0012-45 - 2,179

          Total Airport Improvement Program $ 347,993

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 20.205  CM16404 - $ 108,238
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 20.205  CM17405 - 80,197

          Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster $ 188,435

Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal 
Transit Program 20.509  FT18005 - $ 33,943

Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal
Transit Program 20.509  FT19005 - 135,775

          Total Formula Grants for Rural Areas $ 177,562

Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals 5310-18-FTA-
With Disabilities 20.513  SLIB-59 - $ 5,800

Buses and Bus Facilities Formula, Competitive,
and Low or No Emissions Program 20.526  5339-19-FTA-52 - $ 31,406

          Total Passed through Wyoming Department of Transportation - $ 743,352

Passed through Wyoming Independent Living
Rehabilitation, Inc.
Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal

Transit Program 20.509  N/A - $ 7,844

Passed through Wyoming Association of Sheriffs and Chiefs of Police
Alcohol Open Container Requirements 20.607  N/A - $ 6,216

Highway Safety Cluster
National Priority Safety Programs 20.616  N/A - 35,263

          Total Passed through Wyoming Association of Sheriffs and Chiefs of Police $ 41,479

          Total Department of Transportation $ 792,675

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule. (Continued)
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SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 3 of 5)

Federal Grantor Federal   Pass-Through    Pass-Through Total      
Pass Through Grantor CFDA   Grantor’s       to Sub-    Federal    

Program Title or Cluster Title Number  Number       Recipients  Expenditures

Environmental Protection Agency
Passed through Wyoming Department of 
Environmental Quality

Nonpoint Source Implementation Grants 66.460  NPS2017A - $ 47,713

Department of Education
Passed through State of Wyoming Education Division of Developmental Disabilities
Special Education Cluster (IDEA)

Special Education Preschool Grants 84.173  N/A - $ 46,388
Special Education Grants to States 84.027  N/A - 76,379

          Total Special Education Cluster (IDEA) $ 122,767

Special Education - Grants for Infants and Families 84.181  N/A - $ 114,305

          Total Department of Education $ 237,072

Department of Health and Human Services
Direct Award:

Head Start 93.600  N/A - $ 324,296

Passed through State of Wyoming Department of Health 
Aging Cluster
Special Programs for the Aging

Title III, Part B, Grants for Supportive 
Services and Senior Centers 93.044  N/A - $ 29,543

Special Programs for the Aging
Title III, Part C, Nutrition Services 93.045  N/A - $ 89,119
Title III, Part C, Nutrition Services 93.045  N/A - 23,176

          Total Title III Part C $ 112,295

Nutrition Services Incentive Program 93.053  N/A - $ 33,672

          Total Aging Cluster $ 175,510

Special Programs for the Aging,  
National Family Caregiver
Support, Title III, Part E 93.052  N/A - $ 36,671

Public Health Emergency Preparedness 93.069  N/A - $ 98,599

Community Services Block Grant  93.569  170985 $ 78,791 $ 78,791
Community Services Block Grant  93.569  011346 170,033 170,033

          Total Community Services Block Grant $ 248,824 $ 248,824

(Continued)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.

90



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Federal Grantor Federal   Pass-Through    Pass-Through Total      
Pass Through Grantor CFDA   Grantor’s       to Sub-    Federal    

Program Title or Cluster Title Number  Number       Recipients  Expenditures
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

Projects of Regional and National Significance 93.243  N/A - $ 52,286
Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment

of Substance Abuse 93.959  N/A - $ 65,330
Maternal and Child Health Service Block

Grant to the States 93.994  N/A - $ 1,810
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Cluster 93.558  N/A - $ 19,483

          Total Passed through State of Wyoming Department of Health $ 248,824 $ 698,513

Passed through State of Wyoming Department of Family Services
TANF Cluster

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families/CPI 93.558  N/A $ 110,024 $ 110,024
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 93.558  N/A - 5,789

          Total TANF $ 110,024 $ 115,813

          Total TANF Cluster $ 110,024 $ 135,296

CCDF Cluster
Child Care Mandatory and Matching Funds 

of the Child Care And Development Fund 93.596  N/A - $ 14,348

Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services 
Program 93.645  N/A - $ 508

Foster Care Title IV-E 93.658  N/A - $ 6,743
Social Services Block Grant 93.667  N/A - $ 4,913

          Total Passed through State of Wyoming Department of Family Services $ 110,024 $ 142,325

          Total Department of Health and Human Services $ 358,848 $ 1,165,134
Executive Office of the President

Passed through State of Wyoming Attorney General’s Office
High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas Program 95.001  G18RM0012A - $ 46,326
High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas Program 95.001  G19RM0012A - 45,933

          Total Executive Office of the President $ 92,259

Department of Homeland Security - Federal Emergency Management Agency
Passed through State of Wyoming Office of Homeland Security

18-EMPG-CAM-
Emergency Management Performance Grants 97.042   GCF18 - $ 35,000

(Continued)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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Federal Grantor Federal   Pass-Through    Pass-Through Total      
Pass Through Grantor CFDA   Grantor’s       to Sub-    Federal    

Program Title or Cluster Title Number  Number       Recipients  Expenditures

17-GPD-RR1-
Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067  RR-HRT17 - $ 71,368

18-SHSP-RR1-
Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067  RR-HRT18 - 43,045

18-SHSP-RR1-
Homeland Security Grant Program 97.067  RR-HEM18 - 23,556

          Total Homeland Security Grant Program $ 137,969

          Total Passed through State of Wyoming Office 
            of Homeland Security - Federal Emergency Management Agency $ 172,969

          Total Department of Homeland Security $ 172,969

          Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 415,279 $ 3,066,961

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award activity of
Campbell County, Wyoming under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2019.  The
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of
Campbell County, Wyoming, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets,
or cash flows of Campbell County, Wyoming.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(A) Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain
types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

(B) Pass through identifying numbers are presented where available.

(C) Campbell County, Wyoming did not elect to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate as allowed under the
Uniform Guidance.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 7)

Section I. Summary of Independent Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance with
GAAP:  unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

° Material weakness(es) identified?    X    yes           no

° Significant deficiency(ies) identified?    X     yes           none reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?            yes     X   no

Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal programs:

° Material weakness(es) identified?    X    yes           no

° Significant deficiency(ies) identified?    X    yes           none reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major federal programs: unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
be reported in accordance with section 
2CFR200.516(a)?     X   yes           no

Identification of major federal programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster Amount Expended
20.106 Airport Improvement Program  $         347,993
20.509 Formula Grants for Rural Areas and

  Tribal Transit Program $         177,562
93.044 Title III, Part B, Grants for Supportive Services and

  Senior Centers $ 29,543
93.045 Title III, Part C, Nutrition Services 112,295
93.053 Nutrition Services Incentive Program              33,672

  Total Aging Cluster   $         175,510
93.569 Community Services Block Grant  $         248,824
93.600 Head Start $         324,296

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A
and type B programs: $     750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?           yes     X    no

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 7)

Section II. Financial Statement Findings 

A. Internal Control Findings

2019-001 - Segregation of Duties in Discretely Presented Component Units

Criteria
A good system of internal control contemplates an adequate segregation of duties so that no one individual
handles a transaction from its inception to its completion.

Condition
The Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint
Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center, Library Foundation and Campbell County Joint
Powers Fire Board), do not have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate segregation of
duties.  This lack of segregation of duties does not allow management to detect and correct a material
misstatement if present.  Due to the size of the Discretely Presented Component Units' staff it is anticipated
that this will be an ongoing finding.

Cause
The Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation Joint Powers
Board, Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center, Library Foundation and Campbell County Joint Powers
Fire Board) do not have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate segregation of duties,
which results from a small staff size.

Effect
The lack of segregation of duties does not allow management to detect and correct a material misstatement,
if present.

Context
The Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Company County Recreation Projects Joint
Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center, Library Foundation and Campbell County Joint
Powers Fire Board) each have limited employees; the small staff size does not provide adequate
segregation of duties.

Repeat Finding
This finding was reported in the immediately prior audit as Finding 2018-001.

Recommendation
In our judgement, management and those charged with governance need to understand the importance of
this communication.  However, due to the lack of resources available to management to correct this
weakness of segregation of duties, we recommend management mitigate this weakness with compensating
controls such as close supervision and monitoring by management of the Governing Boards of these
entities.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.

(Continued)
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 3 of 7)

Section II. Financial Statement Findings (Continued)

2019-002 - Reporting of the County and Discretely Presented Component Units’ Capital Assets

Criteria
The control deficiency exists as County personnel did not properly account for all changes to the capital
asset and depreciation listing, which were significant to the County's financial statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

Condition
In our judgement, the County’s accounting personnel in the course of their assigned duties are not accurately
including capital asset additions and deletions on the County’s capital asset and depreciation listing.  At June
30, 2019, capital asset and related accumulated depreciation beginning balances did not agree to prior year
ending balances, depreciation on assets transferred and disposed of in the current year was incorrectly
calculated, formulas in the spreadsheet were incorrect leading to incorrect depreciation amounts and totals,
and construction in progress was not properly tracked on projects funded with federal grants.  

Cause
In our judgment, the County personnel, and those charged with governance in the course of their assigned
duties, failed to accurately update and review the capital asset and depreciation listing and failed to maintain
an accurate construction in progress listing.

Effect
A possibility exists that a material misstatement may be present and not corrected due to the County not
accurately preparing the capital asset and depreciation listing and construction in progress listing.

Context
During the course of the audit, the auditor recommended material adjustments to the capital asset and
depreciation listing and the construction in progress listing for both the County and its discretely presented
component units.

Repeat Finding
This finding was reported in the immediately prior audit as finding 2018-002.

Recommendation
It is our recommendation that the County’s capital asset listing be reviewed at least annually at the end of
the year by Department Heads and Discretely Presented Component Unit personnel.  These individuals
should verify that all assets included in their portion of the listing are still in service and relay any necessary
changes to the department and individual in charge of compiling the County’s capital asset and depreciation
listing.  Any construction projects being funded through grants should also be reviewed to ensure that all
applicable projects are included on the construction in progress listing.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.

(Continued)
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 4 of 7)

Section II. Financial Statement Findings (Continued)

2019-003 - Certain Accounts are not Adjusted at Year End in the County and its Discretely Presented
Component Units

Criteria
The control deficiency exists as County personnel did not identify all necessary adjusting journal entries,
which were significant to the County's financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Condition
The County, Weed and Pest Board, and Conservation District accounting personnel, in the course of their
assigned duties, did not properly record certain material adjusting entries at year end.  This does not allow
management to detect and correct a material misstatement, if present.  The County, Weed and Pest Board,
and Conservation District's accounting personnel failed to properly account for the following transactions:

The County Treasurer's office did not properly adjust current year taxes receivable and amounts due to other
taxing entities.  The books required a $20,148,462 journal entry to correct the account balances.

Inventory was not adjusted on the Weed and Pest Board to the correct balance at year end.  The books
required a $94,437 journal entry to correct the inventory balance.

Deferred revenue was not adjusted on the Conservation District to the correct balance at year end.  The
books required a $88,622 journal entry to correct the deferred revenue balance.

Cause
In our judgment, the County, Weed and Pest Board and Conservation District's personnel, and those charged
with governance in the course of their assigned duties, failed to accurately adjust property tax receivables,
amounts due to other taxing entities, inventory balance and deferred revenues to actual at year end, which
a thorough review process would have discovered.

Effect
A possibility exists that a material misstatement may be present and not corrected due to the County, Weed
and Pest Board and Conservation District not properly adjusting these accounts at year end.

Context
During the course of the audit, the auditor recommended material adjustments to correctly state property
tax receivables, amounts due to other taxing entities, inventory and deferred revenues. 

Recommendation
We recommend that care be taken by the accounting personnel to ensure that all information of the County,
Weed and Pest Board, and Conservation District is properly recorded to agree to underlying records at year
end, and that supporting documentation be reviewed and agreed to the general ledger before presenting
information for audit.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.

(Continued)
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Section II. Financial Statement Findings (Continued)

2019-004 - Internal Controls Over Cash Receipts

Criteria
A good system of internal control contemplates management approval of changes made subsequent to
original receipt of cash, which would prevent employees of the County from having the ability to edit
portions of receipts without management approval.

Condition
The County did not have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate controls over cash receipted
into the County.  This lack of controls allowed an employee with knowledge of the system to manipulate
the system to their advantage.

Cause
The County did not have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate controls over cash, which
resulted from a lack of knowledge about the risks associated with cash receipts.

Effect
The breakdown of internal controls allowed an employee to steal $37,157.

Context
The County did not have effective policies in place to prevent an employee from manipulating the cash
receipt system.

Recommendation
It is our recommendation that the County immediately place appropriate controls over the cash receipt
process.  The editing of receipts after the original receipt of cash should always require sign-off of
management.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.

B. Compliance Findings

There were no compliance findings.

(Continued)
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 6 of 7)

Section III. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

2019-001 - Segregation of Duties in Discretely Presented Component Units

The lack of segregation of duties in the Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell
County Recreation Projects Joint Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Citizen's Center, Library
Foundation and the Campbell County Joint Powers Fire Board) affects the entity as a whole, including its
federal awards.  See Finding 2019-001 in Section II for detailed information on this finding and the views
of responsible officials and planned corrective actions.

2019-002 - Reporting of the County and Discretely Presented Component Units' Capital Assets

The inaccurate reporting of capital assets affects the entity as a whole, including assets purchased with
federal awards.  See Finding 2019-002 in Section II for detailed information on this finding and the views
of responsible of officials and planned corrective actions.

2019-005 - Uniform Guidance Procurement Standards

Criteria
One significant provision of the Uniform Guidance that affects Campbell County and its Discretely
Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint Powers Board,
Campbell County Senior Citizens' Center Foundation, and Campbell County Library Foundation because
they are not likely to ever receive Federal funds) is the requirement to follow prescribed procurement
standards under 2 CFR sections 200.318 through 200.326.  Under the new procurement standards, the
County and its Discretely Presented Component Units are required to have a documented purchasing policy,
which at a minimum, incorporates the provisions of the Uniform Guidance.

Condition
The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) revised regulations applicable to federally funded programs. 
The new regulations are contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance).  The Uniform Guidance includes not only protocols for program management and
administration, but also updated compliance regulations for federal awards.  Currently, the County and its
Discretely Presented Component Units do not have a formal written procurement policy that incorporates
all provisions of the Uniform Guidance procurement standards.

Cause
Lack of oversight, awareness, or understanding of all of the specific requirements under the Uniform
Guidance and applicable CFR sections resulted in the use of a procurement policy which did not include
all elements required under Uniform Guidance.

Effect
A lack of documented policies increases the overall risk of noncompliance as it relates to federal
procurement.

Context
Although the County and its Discretely Presented Component Units did not have policies in place in
conformity with all of the federal Uniform Guidance criteria, they did follow their own procedures as it
relates to the contracts under the procurements applicable to the County's major programs.  Their
procurement policy incorporated the majority of the required elements.

(Continued)
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Section III. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)

Recommendation
We recommend that management establish a written policy that addresses all of the procurement
requirements for federal programs as identified in 2 CFR sections 200.318 through 200.326 and maintain
adequate supporting documentation and records the document history and methods of procurement and the
procedures performed by complying with these CFR sections.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.

2019-006 - Subrecipient Monitoring - Community Services Block Grant, CFDA 93.569

Criteria
2 CFR Part 200.331 contains the requirements for pass-through entities.  Organizations are required to
evaluate each subrecipient's risk of noncompliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of the subaward for purposes of determining the appropriate subrecipient monitoring.

Condition
The County does not have documented policies or procedures for evaluating potential subgrantees' risk of
noncompliance prior to award of subgrants for purposes of determining the appropriate subrecipient
monitoring.

Cause
The County was not aware of the requirements of Uniform Guidance related to pass-through entities'
responsibility to perform and retain written risk assessment as part of subrecipient monitoring.

Effect
The County has failed to comply with Uniform Guidance requirements with respect to evaluating the risk
of noncompliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the subaward for each
recipient.  Therefore, the subrecipient monitoring performed during the year was not tailored to the risks
present in their subrecipient entities.

Context
The County did not have policies in place in conformity with the Federal Uniform Guidance criteria relating
to evaluating the risk of noncompliance, prior to awarding subgrants.

Recommendation
We recommend that the County implement risk assessment procedures as part of the subgrant process so
that subrecipients can be monitored as required by 2 CFR 200.331.  Written documentation of the
subrecipient's risk of noncompliance should be completed and maintained prior to award approval.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions
See Exhibit 1.
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Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 
 
Financial Statement Findings: 
 
2018-001 
 
Condition/Context:  The Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint 
Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Center, Library Foundation and Campbell County Joint Powers Fire Board) do not 
have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate segregation of duties. This lack of segregation of duties does not 
allow management to detect and correct a material misstatement if present.  Due to the size of the Discretely Presented 
Component Units’ staff, it is anticipated that this will be an ongoing finding.  The Discretely Presented Component Units 
(excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Center, Library 
Foundation and Campbell County Joint Powers Fire Board) each have limited employees; the small staff does not provide 
adequate segregation of duties. 
 
Status:  As referenced above, this is an ongoing finding as the size of the organization is a significant contributor to this 
finding and the size of the organization has not and will not likely change.  There are, however, processes in place to mitigate 
this finding.  As stated in previous audits, the following are provided: 
 

1. The Directors and Governing Boards review and approve all purchase orders, invoices and warrants. 
 

2. Budget variance reports are reviewed and approved by the Directors and Governing Boards on a monthly basis. 
 

3. Bank statements and cancelled checks are reconciled and reviewed by Directors and Governing Boards on a 
monthly basis. 

 
4. Reports to taxing authorities, as well as compliance reports, are reviewed and approved by the Directors and 

Governing Boards on a timely basis. 
 

5. Direct and daily involvement and oversight by the respective Governing Boards. 
 
2018-002 
 
Condition/Context:  In our judgment, the County’s accounting personnel in the course of their assigned duties are not 
accurately including capital asset addition and deletions on the County’s capital asset and depreciation listing.  At June 30, 
2018, capital asset and related accumulated depreciation beginning balances did not agree to prior year ending balances, 
depreciation on assets transferred and disposed of in the current year was incorrectly calculated, assets purchased subsequent 
to year end were added to the listing as of June 30, 2018 and formulas in the spreadsheet were incorrect leading to incorrect 
depreciation amounts and totals.  In addition, assets moved to component units were displayed as transfers rather than as 
deletions and additions. During the course of the audit, the auditor recommended adjustments to the capital asset and 
depreciation listing. 
 

 OFFICE 
500 South Gillette Avenue 
Suite 1100   
Gillette, Wyoming 82716 
(307) 682-7283 
(307) 687-6325 FAX 
www.ccgov.net 

Carol J. Seeger, Commissioners 
Administrative Director 
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Status:  Please refer to Management’s response to this finding last year.  As referenced in last year’s response, the County is 
undergoing a massive transition in its capital asset accounting and financial reporting functions through the implementation 
of a new software program.  New policies and procedures will be implemented through this process.  The County has engaged 
the services of a governmental accounting firm to assist in this transition.  At the time of this writing, they are working on 
our asset management and depreciation methods.  Implementation of this project will be phased in with the first phase 
currently scheduled to for July of 2020. 
 
2018-003 
 
Condition/Context:  Several ACH amounts that had been deposited into the bank account prior to June 30, were noted on a 
June 2018 bank reconciliation as reductions in order for the reconciliation to agree to the balance sheet. This occurred because 
the items were not receipted into the proper accounts until subsequent to June 30.  There were also multiple transfers between 
the funds recorded on the County’s books at June 30.  These transfers were not actually made between the investment accounts 
for each fund until subsequent year end.  The transfers should not have been recorded until the actual transfers took place. 
 
Status:  As indicated in last year’s response, the unexpected loss of critical personnel contributed to this finding.  Key 
personnel have been replaced and trained. 
 
2018-004 
 
Condition/Context:  The County was not aware that the invoices expended prior to June 30, 2017 eligible for reimbursement 
under this grant had not been requested for reimbursement until subsequent to June 30, 2018.  Amounts were incorrectly 
excluded from the receivables at June 30, 2017.  The County was not in compliance with the reporting requirements explicitly 
stated in the grant agreement, including filing quarterly reports, although subsequent to year end the grantor agency rescinded 
the reporting requirements.  While testing the compliance of grants received under CFDA 97.067, it was noted that the 
receivable amount recorded at June 30, 2017 was understated by $72,397. 
 
Status:  As indicated in last year’s response, the duties and responsibilities for grant administration were divided between 
County Boards and Departments and the Grant Specialist.  Now, the administration of all county grants is centralized through 
the Grant Specialist.    
 
Federal Audit Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
2018-001  
 
See Finding 2018-001 above. 
 
2018-002 
 
See Finding 2018-002 above. 
 
2018 -003 
 
See Finding 2018-003 above. 
 
2018-004 
 
See Finding 2018-004 above. 
 
 
 
 
 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE
WITH REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE

TO THE PASSENGER FACILITY
CHARGE PROGRAM AND ON

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS ISSUED
BY THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION

County Commissioners
Campbell County, Wyoming
Gillette, Wyoming

Report on Compliance of Passenger Facility Charges

We have audited Campbell County, Wyoming’s (County), compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies (the Guide), issued
by the Federal Aviation Administration, that could have a direct and material effect on the County’s passenger
facility charge program for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with
the requirements of laws, regulations and contracts applicable to the passenger facility charge program. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the County’s passenger facility charge program
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and the Guide.  Those standards and the Guide require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the passenger facility
charge program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the County’s
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the passenger facility
charge program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on the County’s compliance.
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Opinion on Compliance for Passenger Facility Charge Program

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on its passenger facility charge program for the year ended
June 30, 2019.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit
of compliance, we considered the County’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on the passenger facility charge program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance
for the passenger facility charge program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Guide, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s
internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the
passenger facility program on a timely basis.   A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance
with a type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge program that is less severe than a
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any defic iencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist
that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Guide. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Bennett, Weber & Hermstad, LLP

Gillette, Wyoming
January 14, 2020
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFCs)
COLLECTED AND EXPENDED (AS REPORTED TO FAA)

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Quarter    Quarter     Quarter   Quarter    Cumulative Cumulative

Ended     Ended      Ended   Ended     Year Ended Totals as of Totals as of
September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30,  June 30,  June 30,  June 30,  

2018      2018       2019     2019     2019    2018    2019    

Collections:
PFCs Collected $ 28,168 $ 27,445 $ 35,500 $ 29,628 $ 120,741 $ 1,308,054 $ 1,428,795
Interest Earned 188 286 389 292 1,155 30,809 31,964

          Total Collections $ 28,356 $ 27,731 $ 35,889 $ 29,920 $ 121,896 $ 1,338,863 $ 1,460,759

Expenditures on Approved PFC
Projects Included in:

Application No. 8
10-08-C-02-GCC $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 630,826 $ 630,826

Application No. 9
13-09-C-00-GCC - - - - - 354,442 354,442

Application No. 10
17-10-C-00-GCC 838 - - - 838 167,690 168,528

Application No. 11
18-11-C-00-GCC - 13,290 10,425 115,258 138,973 - 138,973

          Total Expenditures $ 838 $ 13,290 $ 10,425 $ 115,258 $ 139,811 $ 1,152,958 $ 1,292,769

See Accompanying Notes to Schedule of Passenger Facilities Charges Collected and Expended.



CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES COLLECTED AND EXPENDED

Note 1. General

The Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-508, Title II, Subtitle B) authorized the
imposition of local Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) and use of resulting PFC revenues for Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA) approved projects meeting at least one of the following criteria: (1) preserve or enhance safety,
security or capacity of the national air transport system; (2) reduce noise or mitigate noise impacts resulting from an
airport or (3) furnish opportunities for enhanced competition between or among carriers.

Note 2. Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended

The accompanying Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended (the Schedule) presents the
revenues received from the PFC and expenditures incurred on approved projects.  The information in the schedule
is presented in accordance with the requirements described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public
Agencies.  Therefore, some amounts presented in this Schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in,
the preparation of Campbell County, Wyoming’s basic financial statements.

PFCs collected represent cash collected for the year ended June 30, 2019 as reported to the FAA.  The interest earned
represents the actual interest collected on the unexpended PFC balance throughout the year.  Expenditures represent
FAA-approved projects expended in the current and prior years and are reported when projects are complete.

The Schedule is presented on the cash basis of accounting.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM 
FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 1 of 2)

Summary of Independent Auditor’s Results

1. Type of auditor’s report issued: unmodified

2. Type of report on PFC compliance: unmodified

3. Quarterly Revenue and Disbursements
reconcile with submitted quarterly reports
and reported unliquidated revenue matches
actual amounts.      X    yes           no

4. PFC Revenue and Interest is accurately
reported on FAA Form 5100-127.      X    yes           no

5. The Public Agency maintains a separate financial
accounting record for each application.      X    yes           no

6. Funds disbursed were for PFC-eligible items as
identified in the FAA decision to pay only for the
allowable costs of the project.      X    yes           no

7. Monthly carrier receipts were reconciled with
quarterly carrier reports.      X    yes           no

8. PFC revenues were maintained in a separate
interest-bearing capital account or commingled
only with other interest-bearing airport capital
funds.      X    yes           no

9. Serving carriers were notified of PFC program
actions/changes approved by the FAA.      X    yes           no

10. Quarterly reports were transmitted (or available
via website) to remitting carriers.      X    yes           no

11. The Public Agency is in compliance with
Assurances 5, 6, 7, and 8.      X    yes           no

12. Project design and implementation is carried
out in accordance with Assurance 9.      X    yes           no

13. Program administration is carried out in
accordance with Assurance 10.      X    yes           no

14. For those public agencies with excess revenue, a
plan for the use of this revenue has been submitted
to the FAA for review and concurrence.            yes           no     X      n/a

(Continued)
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM
FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Page 2 of 2)

Findings Required to be Reported by the Guide

There were no findings and questioned costs during the year ended June 30, 2019.
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CAMPBELL COUNTY, WYOMING

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
  AND CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM 
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Prior Year Findings

There were no prior year findings.
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EXHIBIT I

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLANS



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
D. G. Reardon, Chairman 

Rusty Bell 
Robert Maul 
Del Shelstad 

 

  
  
  
 
   
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 1 
 
Corrective Action Plans 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 
2019-001  Segregation of Duties in Discretely Presented Component Units 
 
Condition/Context: The Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint 
Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Center, Library Foundation and Campbell County Joint Powers Fire Board) do not 
have adequate internal accounting control due to inadequate segregation of duties. This lack of segregation of duties does not 
allow management to detect and correct a material misstatement if present.  Due to the size of the Discretely Presented 
Component Units’ staff, it is anticipated that this will be an ongoing finding.  The Discretely Presented Component Units 
(excluding the Campbell County Recreation Projects Joint Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Center, Library 
Foundation and Campbell County Joint Powers Fire Board) each have limited employees; the small staff does not provide 
adequate segregation of duties. 
 
Recommendation:  In our judgment, management charged with governance need to understand the importance of this 
communication.  However, due to the lack of resources available to management to correct this weakness of segregation of 
duties, we recommend management mitigate this weakness with compensating controls such as close supervision and 
monitoring by management of the Governing Boards of these entities. 
 
Corrective Action Planned:  As related in previous Management response to this finding, the County does understand the 
importance of this communication and does implement close supervision and monitoring activity, including but not 
necessarily limited to, the following: 
 

1. The Directors and Governing Boards review and approve all purchase orders, invoices and warrants. 
 
2. Budget variance reports are reviewed and approved by the Directors and Governing Boards on a monthly 

basis. 
 

3. Bank statements and cancelled checks are reconciled and reviewed by Directors and Governing Boards on a 
monthly basis. 

 
4. Reports to taxing authorities, as well as compliance reports, are reviewed and approved by the Directors and 

Governing Boards on a timely basis. 
 

Additionally, the implementation of a new software financial and data management accounting system is expected to provide 
additional assistance.  Implementation of this system will necessarily require training throughout the organization.  County 
also plans to conduct educational/training with key personnel directly related to the audit and its findings.  Implementation 
of the first phase of the new system is projected to begin in July of 2020.  The training specifically related to the audit and its 
findings is expected to occur in the course of the 2020 fiscal year.  Carol Seeger, Commissoner’s Administrative Director; 
Rachael Knust, Campbell County Treasurer; and Susan Saunders, Campbell County Clerk, can provide additional 
information. 

 OFFICE 
500 South Gillette Avenue 
Suite 1100   
Gillette, Wyoming 82716 
(307) 682-7283 
(307) 687-6325 FAX 
www.ccgov.net 

Carol J. Seeger, Commissioners 
Administrative Director 



2019-002 – Reporting of the County Discretely Presented Component Unit’s Capital Assets 
 
Condition/Context:  In our judgment, the County’s accounting personnel in the course of their assigned duties are not 
accurately including capital asset addition and deletions on the County’s capital asset and depreciation listing.  At June 30, 
2019, capital asset and related accumulated depreciation beginning balances did not agree to prior year ending balances, 
depreciation on assets transferred and disposed of in the current year was incorrectly calculated, formulas in the spreadsheet 
were incorrect leading to incorrect depreciation amounts and totals and construction in progress was not properly tracked on 
projects funded with federal grants.  During the course of the audit, the auditor recommended material adjustments to the 
capital asset and depreciation listing and the construction progress listing for both the County and its discretely presented 
component units. 
 
Recommendation:  It is our recommendation that the County’s capital asset listing be reviewed at least annually at the end of 
the year by Department Heads and Discretely Presented Component Unit personnel.  These individuals should verify that all 
assets included in their portion of the listing are still in service and relay any necessary changes to the department and 
individual in charge of compiling the County’s capital asset and depreciation listing.  Any construction projects being funded 
through grants should also be reviewed to ensure that all applicable projects are included on the construction in progress 
listing. 
 
Corrective Action Plan:   County agrees with the audit finding and is currently in the process of implementing a new asset 
management system.  This will include the recommended verification.  The project is being phased with the first phase 
scheduled to be completed in July of 2020.   Carol Seeger, Commissioner’s Administrative Director; Brandy Elder, Director 
of Human Resources and Risk Management; and Faye Jorgenson, Benefit Specialist, can provide further information. 
 
2019-003 – Certain Accounts are not Adjusted at Year End in the County and its Discretely Presented Component 
Units 
 
Condition/Context:  The County, Weed and Pest Board, and Conservation District accounting personnel, in the course of 
their assigned duties, did not properly record certain material adjusting entries at year end.  This does not allow management 
to detect and correct a material misstatement, if present.  The County, Weed and Pest Board and Conservation District’s 
accounting personnel failed to properly account for the following transactions: 
 
The County Treasurer’s office did not properly adjust current year taxes receivables and accounts due to other taxing entities.  
The books required a $20,148,462 journal entry to correct the account balances. 
 
Inventory was not adjusted on the Weed and Pest Board to correct balance at year end.  The books required a $94,437 journal 
entry to correct the inventory balance. 
 
Deferred revenue was not adjusted on the Conservation District to the correct balance at year end.  The books required a 
$88,622 journal entry to correct the deferred revenue balance. 
 
During the course of the audit, the auditor recommended material adjustments to correctly state property tax receivables, 
amounts due to other taxing entities, inventory and deferred revenues.  
 
Recommendation:  We recommended that care be taken by the accounting personnel to ensure that all information of the 
County, Weed and Pest Board and Conservation District is properly recorded to agree to the underlying records at year end, 
and that supporting documentation be reviewed and agreed to the general ledger before presenting information for audit. 
 
Corrective Action Taken:  The County agrees with the auditor’s recommendation and greater care will be given.  The finding 
contained in this audit will be a reminder and the County plans to implement education/training to key county personnel 
responsible for conducting such tasks specifically to address this audit’s findings during the 2020 fiscal year.  The County 
experienced vacancies and transition of new individuals in key positions that would have affected these functions.  Carol 
Seeger, Commissioner’s Administrative Director, and Rachael Knust, Campbell County Treasurer, can provide additional 
information. 



2019-004 – Internal Controls Over Cash Receipts 
 
Condition/Context:  The County did not have adequate internal accounting control over cash receipted into the County.  This 
lack of controls allowed an employee with knowledge of the system to manipulate the system to their advantage.  The County 
did not have effective policies in place to prevent an employee from manipulating the cash receipt system. 
 
Recommendation:  It is our recommendation that the County immediately place appropriate cash controls over the cash 
receipt process.  The editing of receipts after the original receipt of cash should always require sign off of management. 
 
Corrective Action Plan:  The County agrees with this recommendation and at this time, only the County Treasurer and the 
two Chief Deputies, are authorized and able to make changes to cash receipts. At the end of each day, a report is generated 
show any changes to receipts, including who made the change.  Rachael Knust, Campbell County Treasurer; Crystal Conley, 
Chief Deputy Treasurer; and Yvonne Wagner, Chief Deputy Treasurer.  This change was implemented on or about September 
9, 2019. 
 
Federal Award Finding and Questioned Costs 
 
2019-001 – Segregation of Duties in Discretely Presented Component Units 
 
The lack of segregation of duties in the Discretely Presented Component Units (excluding the Campbell County Recreation 
Projects Join Powers Board, Campbell County Senior Citizen’s Center, Library Foundation and the Campbell County Joint 
Powers Fire Board) affects the entity as a whole, including its federal awards.  See finding 2019-001 in Section II for detailed 
information on this finding and the views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions.  
 
Corrective Action Plan:  Please see the response to Financial Statement Finding 2019-001. 
 
2019-002 – Reporting of the County and Discretely Presented Component Units’ Capital Assets 
 
The inaccurate reporting of capital assets affects the entity, including assets purchased with federal awards.  See Finding 
2019-002 in Section II for detailed information on this finding and the views of responsible of officials and planned corrective 
actions. 
 
Corrective Action Plan:  Please see the response to Financial Statement Finding 2019-002. 
 
2019-005 – Uniform Guidance Procurement Standards 
 
Condition/Context 
The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) revised regulations applicable to federally funded programs.  The new 
regulations are contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  The Uniform Guidance includes not only 
protocols for program management and administration, but also updated compliance regulations for federal awards.  
Currently, the County and its Discretely Presented Component Units do not have a formal written procurement policy that 
incorporates all provisions of the Uniform Guidance procurement standards.   
 
Although the County and its Discretely Presented Component Units did not have policies in place in conformity with all of 
the federal Uniform Guidance criteria, they did follow their own procedures as it relates to the contracts under the 
procurements applicable to the County’s major programs.  Their procurement policy incorporated the majority of the required 
elements.   
 
Recommendation 
We recommend that management establish a written policy that addresses all of the procurement requirements for federal 
programs identified in 2 CFR sections 200.318 through 200.326 and maintain adequate supporting documentation and records 
the document history and methods of procurement and the procedures performed by complying with these CFR sections.



The mission of Campbell County is to provide quality, efficient, and cost-effective services for all 
 Campbell County residents through sound decision making and fiscal responsibility. 

 
Corrective Action Plan:  The County amended its Purchasing Policies and Procedures on December 17, 2019 which now 
addresses all the procurement requirements for federal programs identified in 2 CFR sections 200.318 through 200.326.  Carol 
Seeger, Commissioners’ Administrative Director; Beth Raab, Grant Specialist; and Ivy McGowan Castleberry, Public 
Information Officer, can provide further information.  
 
2019-006 – Subrecipient Monitoring – Community Services Block Grant, CFDA 93.569 
 
Condition/Context 
The County does not have documented policies or procedures for evaluating potential subgrantees’s risk of noncompliance 
prior to award of subgrants for purposes of determining the appropriate subrecipient monitoring.   
 
Recommendation 
We recommend that the County implement risk assessment procedures as part of the subgrant process so that subrecipients 
can be monitored as required by 2 CFR 200.331.  Written documentation of the subrecipient’s risk of noncompliance should 
be completed and maintained prior to award approval. 
 
Corrective Action Plan:  The County was advised of this concern during the course of the audit and has established a protocol 
for performing a subrecipient risk assessment. This assessment is documented by use of a form specifically generated for this 
purpose.  This risk assessment has been implemented and will be performed before considering the award of any grant funds 
beginning in the new fiscal/award year.  Additionally, it has been the practice of Campbell County to award such grant funding 
only after rigorous review by the CARE Board and interview with Campbell County’s governing body.  Campbell County 
requires all recipients to attend mandatory training each year and each subrecipient must enter into a contract which contains 
the requirements set out in 2CFR 200.331.  Carol Seeger, Commissioner’s Administrative Director, and Beth Raab, Grant 
Specialist, can provide further information.  
 
 



Director’s Report

February 2020
Early Intervention:

 Staff will be attending several trainings; OT/PT: Pediatric vestibular training in Denver 

May 2nd and 3rd; SLP’s and Family Service Coordinators to Infant and Early Childhood 

Conference in Washington May 6-8th.



Early Childhood:

 We will be sending a staff member to a training in Casper, they will become a certified 

playground consultant.

 Kitchen staff are participating in a local Serve-Safe class.

Early Head Start:

 We have hired a new Administrative Assistant, Ashley Salmon. She will start once we 

receive the background checks.

 Work will start on the annual grant application, due June 1, 2020.

Financial:

 Revenues and expenditures are consistent.

 Carol and Emily have been busy going to Tyler trainings, learning about the new 

financial system. This is scheduled to be fully operational by July 1, 2020.

Personnel:

 We have received a resignation from one of our SLP’s. The resignation is effective in 

May.

 We are requesting the Personnel Committee to assign a pay range and band for a 

Speech and Language Pathology Assistant. 

Other:

 Leadership Wyoming

o I attended a session in Cheyenne, February 18th – 22nd the focus was on State 

Government and military. We will have an opportunity to meet with our 

legislators. 

o March will be in Lander March 18-20, 2020. We will learn about culture and 

economic diversity. 

 I have applied to be on the Governors Early Childhood State Advisory Council.

 I will schedule a new Commissioner orientation with Colleen Faber.

Facility:

 The playground on the West side will need considerable work, it is not up to code. We 

are working with the Parks Department to get a budget for potential 1% request in next 

year’s budget.




















	1. Log No. ACF-IM-HS-20-01 
	For example, a birth to 5 program could report that 12% of enrolled children are children with disabilities, with none of the enrolled infants and toddlers receiving IDEA services. Such a program would need to consider the recruiting, screening, and referral process for infants and toddlers to identify the cause of this difference and ensure that at least 10% of its enrolled infants and toddlers are eligible for services under IDEA. 
	 



